AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:
Function Room, South Holland
Centre, Market Place, Spalding,
PE11 1SS

Contact:
Direct Dial:
e-mail:

Democratic Services
01775 764454
demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Date:

14 September 2021

If you would like to attend this
meeting as a member of the
public, please contact Democratic
Services on 01775 764838 or at
demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Dear Councillor,
A meeting of the DISTRICT COUNCIL will be held in the Function Room, South Holland
Centre, Market Place, Spalding on Wednesday, 22 September 2021, commencing at
6.30 pm at which your attendance is requested.
Yours faithfully,

Christine Marshall
Executive Director (Strategy and Resources) (S151)
(Quorum:13)
AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 29 July
2021 (copy enclosed).

3.

Declaration of Interests.
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item,
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of
dispensation.)

(Pages
5 - 18)

4.

Chairman's Announcements.

5.

Announcements by Leader and Members of the Cabinet.

6.

Questions asked on notice under Standing Order 6

7.

Questions asked without notice under Standing Order 7

8.

Committee Minutes
To receive the minutes of the following Committees and Panels:a) Licensing Committee 15 July 2021
b) Planning Committee - 21 July 2021
c) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development
Panel - 22 July 2021
d) Governance and Audit Committee - 29 July 2021
e) Planning Committee - 1 September 2021

9.

Key Decision Plan
To receive the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed).

(Pages
19 - 24)

10.

Report from Cabinet meeting on 7 September 2021
To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:

(Pages
25 - 58)

2021/21 Financial Outturn – To provide information on the outturn
financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2021 (Cabinet minute 6)
(Cabinet agenda item 7).

11.

Annual Treasury Management Review 2020/21
To consider the Annual Treasury Management Review for 2020/21
(report of the Executive Director – (Strategy and Resources) (S151)
enclosed).

(Pages
59 - 74)

12.

Shared Officers - Section 113 Agreement
To consider entering into an Agreement with Breckland Council under
Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 to share Legal Services
Officers, Procurement and Contracts Officers, and the Environmental
Protection Business Support Officer (report of Assistant Director –
Governance and Monitoring Officer enclosed).

(Pages
75 - 78)

13.

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership - Joint Committees
and other constitutional matters
To consider proposed amendments to the Constitution as a result of the
Council’s previous decision to form a Strategic Alliance with Boston
Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council (report of the
Assistant Director for Governance and Monitoring Officer enclosed).

(Pages
79 - 90)

14.

Nominations for Committees and other Seats and Proposed Changes to
the Constitution.
To receive, from political groups, nominations for any changes to
Committees and other seats and to consider any proposed changes to
the Constitution.

15.

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent

NOTE:

No other business is permitted unless by reason of special
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the
Chairman is of the opinion that the items(s) should be
considered as a matter of urgency.

16.

Exclusion of the Press and Public
To consider resolving that, under section 100A(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 4 of part 1 of
the Schedule 12A of the Act.

17.

Report from Cabinet meeting on 7 September 2021 (exempt item)
To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:
Waste Collection Staffing and Critical HGV Driver Shortage – To provide
an update on the current staffing situation for waste collections,
including the HGV driver shortage, and to seek approval to implement
new working arrangements to support ongoing service delivery (exempt
Cabinet minute 11) (Cabinet agenda item 13).

(Pages
91 120)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2.
- 11 -

Minutes of a meeting of the SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL held in the
Marquee Suite, Springfields Events & Conference Centre, Camelgate, Spalding,
PE12 6ET, on Thursday, 29 July 2021 at 6.30 pm.
PRESENT
P A Redgate (Chairman)
B Alcock
J R Astill
J Avery
A C Beal
F Biggadike
H J W Bingham
M D Booth
C J T H Brewis
P E Coupland
T A Carter
A Casson

R Gambba-Jones
R A Gibson
R Grocock
C J Lawton
J D McLean
A M Newton
N H Pepper
G A Porter
J L Reynolds
G T D Rudkin
G P Scalese

S-A Slade
E J Sneath
G J Taylor
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell
S C Walsh
D J Wilkinson
A R Woolf (ViceChairman)
C N Worth

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors A C Cronin,
M Hasan, J L King and M D Seymour.
In Attendance: The Strategic Advisor, the Executive Director (Strategy & Resources)
(S151), the Assistant Director – Governance (Monitoring Officer), the Assistant
Director – Communities and Operations, the Assistant Director – Property and
Development, the Assistant Director – Finance, the Strategic Property and
Operational Manager, the Communities Manager, the Head of Public Protection, the
Projects Surveyor, the Democratic Services Manager and the Democratic Services
Trainee.
Action By

19.

MINUTES
Consideration was given to the following minutes:
• Council – 19 May 2021
• Special Council – 1 July 2021
DECISION:
That the minutes of the following meetings be signed by the
Chairman as a correct record:
•
•

Council – 19 May 2021
Special Council – 1 July 2021

Page 5

- 12 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021
20.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.
There were none.

21.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS.
The Chairman read out a letter that the outgoing Chairman had
received from the Office of the Queen’s Private, thanking South
Holland for its thoughtful message of sympathy sent upon the
death of The Duke of Edinburgh.
The Chairman wished to thank Nathan Elvery, Strategic Advisor
for all his hard work on bringing the South East Lincolnshire
Councils Partnership to fruition.

22.

ANNOUNCEMENTS BY LEADER AND MEMBERS OF THE
CABINET.
There were no announcements by the Leader.
Councillor Gambba-Jones commented on the difficulties the
Environmental Services Team were currently facing due to a
shortage of HGV drivers, and that they were relying heavily on
agency staff. This shortage had impacted the ability of the Council
to respond to fly-tipping reports in their usual timely manner.
Councillor Gambba-Jones asked for Members’ assistance in
communicating this message to residents.

23.

QUESTIONS ASKED ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER
6
There were none.

24.

QUESTIONS ASKED WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING
ORDER 7
Question to: Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning (Councillor
Grocock)
Question from: Councillor Newton
Subject: Acquisition of Properties on Key Decision Plan
Councillor Newton asked whether Ward Members would be
consulted and invited to comment on potential properties chosen
for purchase? Councillor Grocock responded that it was more
difficult to identify properties to convert into apartments but that as
soon as properties had been identified, Ward Members would be

Page 6

- 13 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

contacted to provide their input.
Question to: Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private Sector Housing
(Councillor Lawton)
Question from: Councillor Biggadike
Subject: Lettings Policy
Councillor Biggadike asked whether the Housing department was
responsible for the letting of properties? Councillor Lawton
responded that this was the responsibility of the Housing
department and that there was an approved list of tenants which
was used by Housing Officers in the selection process.
25.

COMMITTEE MINUTES
The minutes of the following Committees and Panels were noted:
•

26.

Special Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy
Development Panel – 29 June 2021

KEY DECISION PLAN
Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan.
DECISION:
That the Key Decision Plan be received.

27.

SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP
Consideration was given to the report of the Interim Chief
Executive and Head of Paid Service which presented the
Business Case for the South East Lincolnshire Councils
Partnership; a draft structure, Tiers 1-3, for the integrated shared
management arrangements for the purpose of staff consultation;
a draft Memorandum of Agreement for the South East
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership to provide a framework for how
the relationship between the Councils would be governed; and a
proposal for the appointment/designation of the Head of Paid
Service as well as the placing of the Monitoring Officer and
Section 151 Officer at the disposal of the other two councils.
These three statutory roles would form part of the integrated
shared management arrangements for the South East
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership.
The report was presented by the Strategic Advisor and he

Page 7

- 14 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

thanked all Members for their input into the development of the
business case.
The Leader of the Council commented that this report was a
culmination of 14 years of work and would result in the formation
of the biggest Council partnership in the country. He extended his
thanks to the two Deputy Leaders, Officers and Members at
Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council, and to
Nathan Elvery, for all their hard work in developing and inputting
into the business case.
The Deputy Leader of the Council acknowledged the difficult
journey and challenge ahead for the Partnership and extended his
appreciation to all Members and Officers across all three councils.
The following points were raised:
•

Members wanted reassurance that they would receive the
same service from Officers once the Partnership was
implemented.
o The Leader of the Council was confident in the way
the partnership was intended to work and assured
Members that they would still have the same access
to Officers as they currently did.

•

Members suggested a six-month review by the Joint
Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development, to
consider how the partnership was working.
o The Leader of the Council agreed that this was a
good idea, but that Boston Borough Council’s and
East Lindsey District Council’s scrutiny panels would
not be required to undertake a review if they did not
consider it to be necessary.

•

Members were concerned that South Holland specific
issues would be put aside to deal with partnership wide
issues.
o The Leader of the Council commented that more
senior officer capacity would be available in the new
shared management arrangements to focus on
South Holland issues.

DECISION:
1. That the business case (at Appendix A) and entry into a
South and East Lincolnshire Council Partnership between
Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey District Council and
South Holland District Council be approved.

Page 8

- 15 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

2. That delegated authority be given to the Deputy s151
Officer, in consultation with the Leader, for the approval of
the final terms, and for the signing and sealing of, the
Memorandum of Agreement (draft at Appendix B)
following due diligence.
3. That, subject to similar decisions to be taken by the other
two Councils, Rob Barlow be appointed the Joint Chief
Executive and Head of Paid Services of South Holland
District Council, East Lindsey District Council and Boston
Borough Council from 3 August 2021. Rob shall remain
formally employed by East Lindsey District Council and this
Council agrees to him continuing to be placed at the
disposal of this Council and at the disposal of Boston
Borough Council under Section 113 of the Local
Government Act 1972. Thereafter, East Lindsey District
Council shall contribute 46% of the cost of Mr Barlow’s
remuneration, Boston Borough Council shall contribute
23% and South Holland District Council 31% of the same.
4. That, subject to similar decisions to be taken by the other
two Councils, this Council agrees to Mark Stinson
becoming the Joint Monitoring Officer of South Holland
District Council, East Lindsey District Council and Boston
Borough Council from 3 August 2021. Mark shall remain
formally employed by this Council and this Council agrees
to him being placed at the disposal of East Lindsey District
Council and Boston Borough Council under Section 113 of
the Local Government Act 1972. Thereafter, East Lindsey
District Council shall contribute 46% of the cost of Mr
Stinson's remuneration, Boston Borough Council shall
contribute 23% and South Holland District Council 31% of
the same.
5. That, subject to similar decisions to be taken by the other
two Councils, this Council agrees to Christine Marshall
becoming the Joint Section 151 Officer of South Holland
District Council, East Lindsey District Council and Boston
Borough Council from 3 August 2021. Christine shall
remain formally employed by this Council and this Council
agrees to her being placed at the disposal of East Lindsey
District Council and Boston Borough Council under Section
113 of the Local Government Act 1972. Thereafter, East
Lindsey District Council shall contribute 46% of the cost of
Mrs Marshall's remuneration, Boston Borough Council shall
contribute 23% and South Holland District Council 31% of
the same.

Page 9

- 16 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

6. That the Joint Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service
be authorised to commence consultation immediately on
the proposed integrated shared management structure
(included in Appendix A) and subject to there being no
material changes to the senior management structure
following consultation with officers, delegated authority be
given to the Head of Paid Service in consultation with the
Council Leaders to implement the said structure and
associated appointments from within the existing senior
staffing partnership cohort (Tiers 2 and 3).
7. That a Joint Chief Officer Appointment Panel and a Joint
Appointment Appeals Committee be established, with
terms of reference as agreed and set out in the
Memorandum of Agreement, and that the Joint Monitoring
Officer be authorised to make any necessary changes to
the Constitution.
8. That the Joint Performance Monitoring Panel (PMP) and

Policy Development Panel (PDP) undertakes a review of
the Partnership after 12 months and reports back to
Council.
28.

ALLOCATION OF FUNDING FOR PLANNED WORKS TO BE
UNDERTAKEN AT SPALDING CEMETERY, PINCHBECK
ROAD, SPALDING.
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Assets and Planning which sought to secure agreement to amend
the Council’s Capital Programme for the 2021-22 Financial Year
to make provision for planned capital works to be undertaken at
Spalding Cemetery and approve the draw-down of the Spalding
Special Expenses Reserve to fund revenue works.
The Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning presented the report
and explained that improvements had already been undertaken at
the Cemetery over the past three months, and that further
improvements were now planned.
The Portfolio Holder for Health and Wellbeing, Conservation and
Heritage expressed her support for the improvements being made
at the Cemetery and was proud to have been instrumental in
raising the profile of the Cemetery over the last few years.
Members commented that a churchyard reflected its community,
and requested that Spalding Cemetery be maintained to a
consistent, suitable standard.

Page 10

- 17 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

The Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning extended his thanks
to the Cemetery volunteers who had helped with the upkeep of
the Cemetery.
(Councillor Tyrrell left the room at 19:00 during this item and
returned for the next Agenda item)
DECISION:
1) That the Council’s Capital Programme for the Financial
Year 2021-22 be amended to provide a capital allocation to
fund works required to be undertaken at Spalding
Cemetery, Pinchbeck Road, Spalding.
2) That the net capital receipt proceeds from the sale of the
Cemetery Gatehouse (£151k), sold in 2008 and previously
providing a revenue income towards the running of the
cemetery, be used to fund the capital works referred to in
recommendation 1 above.
3) That the allocation of up to £20k from the Council’s Capital
Programme, as a sum set aside as project contingency, be
approved.
4) That a sum of up to £26k of the Spalding Special Expenses
Reserve, to be used to fund enabling works (revenue item
works required to be undertaken prior to the capital funded
works commencing) be approved.
5) To note that following a procurement exercise to determine

a suitable contractor to undertake the capital works, a
further decision would be required, in this case a Portfolio
Holder decision, to enable the award of a contract for these
works.
29.

HRA- ENERGY EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
HRA and Private Sector Housing and the Executive Director –
Strategy and Resources (S151) which sought agreement for
acceptance of Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery
capital funding of £800,000 and enabling funding of £87,300;
agreement to an amendment to the HRA capital programme of
£1,152,300, to be funded by £887,300 Green Homes Grant and
£265,000 for match funding required under the scheme;
agreement to retrofit works to council properties at a total initial
value of £1,152,300; and approval of the acceptance of grant

Page 11

- 18 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

funding and the necessary amendments to the HRA capital
budget.
The Portfolio Holder for HRA and Private Sector Housing
introduced the report and explained that a successful funding bid
but a short timeline had been given for the delivery of works
included within the bid. She advised that 300 properties had
already had air source heat pumps installed in off-gas areas. She
explained that low energy performing properties would be chosen
first for improvements and that 70% of the funding for the project
would be provided by the government.
The following points were raised:
•

Members asked whether there was any evidence from the
300 properties that already had air source heat pumps that
tenants would not have to supplement their heating in the
winter.
o The Portfolio Holder responded that tenants were
currently being consulted on how their air pumps
had been working, and responses would be shared
with Members once the consultation was complete.

•

Members welcomed the new approach but were concerned
that 2035 may be too late in relation to climate change.

The Chairman advised that recommendations 5 and 6 detailed
within the report had already been approved via a Portfolio Holder
Decision taken on 20 July 2021.
DECISION:
1) That Council approve acceptance of capital funding of
£800,000 under the terms of the Green Homes Grant Local
Authority Delivery scheme.
2) That Council approve acceptance of enabling funding of
£87,300 under the same scheme.
3) That Council approve an amendment to the HRA capital
programme to include a budget of £1,152,300, to be
funded by £887,300 Green Homes Grant and £265,000 to
match fund retrofit works in accordance with requirements
of the scheme.
4) That Council approve the acceptance of grant monies
together with outlined budget amendments to enable
match funding for retrofit works with an initial contract value

Page 12

- 19 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

of £1,152,300.

30.

PAVEMENT LICENSING
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Public Protection which requested that consideration be given to
continuing to delegate to the Lincolnshire County Council
authority to discharge all functions relating to pavement licences
under section 1 to 9 of the Business and Planning Act 2020 as
amended.
The report was presented by the Portfolio Holder for Public
Protection. The Head of Public Protection advised Members that
the second recommendation would be removed, and that,
following some further legal advice that had been received, the
first recommendation would be amended as follows:
‘That Lincolnshire County Council be authorised to discharge, for
the South Holland District Council area, all functions relating to
pavement licences contained in sections 1 to 9 of the Business
and Planning Act 2020 as amended by the Business and
Planning Act 2020 (Pavement Licences) (Coronavirus)’
The following points were raised:
•

Members asked whether this absolved the District Council
of any liability if an injury occurred whilst the pavement
licence was in place.
o The Head of Public Protection confirmed that SHDC
were consultees on any application for a pavement
licence however liability for an injury would likely lie
with the business whose pavement furniture it was.

•

Members enquired as to how many licences had been
granted since the pavement licensing functions had been
delegated to Lincolnshire County Council and whether any
complaints had been received by the District Council
regarding the County Council not carrying out the licensing
process correctly.
o The Head of Public Protection confirmed that 5
licences had been granted within the South Holland
area and no complaints had been received directly
by the Licensing Team. Any complaints received
would be passed onto Lincolnshire County Council
who administer the scheme.

DECISION:

Page 13

- 20 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

That Lincolnshire County Council be authorised to discharge, for
the South Holland District Council area, all functions relating to
pavement licences contained in sections 1 to 9 of the Business
and Planning Act 2020 as amended by the Business and
Planning Act 2020 (Pavement Licences) (Coronavirus)
(Amendment) Regulations 2021 or by any further regulations.
31.

REPORT FROM OUTSIDE BODIES
Consideration was given to the report of Councillor Scalese in
respect of Health Scrutiny for Lincolnshire.
DECISION:
That the report be noted.

32.

NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEES AND OTHER SEATS AND
PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION.
There were none.

33.

SOUTH HOLLAND CENTRE
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Communities and Facilities which sought approval to proceed with
the implementation of the proposed structure to accompany
revised operations.
The report was presented by the Portfolio Holder for Communities
and Facilities who made the following points:
•

•

•
•

Fundamental changes had occurred in the Arts sector over
the course of the pandemic and there was not much
information and data available as yet regarding how the
sector would recover;
Prior to the pandemic running costs were already
significantly higher than the income generated by the
Centre and this had cost taxpayers over £1 million over the
last 4 years which could not continue;
The Council now had an opportunity to refine the offer of
the South Holland Centre whilst still supporting local
theatre groups and activities important to residents;
The phased approach for re-opening the Centre was based
on public feedback and a user survey where 80% of
customers wanted the immediate return of cinema while
40% of responders preferred to not be seated near others;

Page 14

- 21 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Recent data received via Facebook showed that residents
wanted a return for live performances, and this would
happen in October.
While closed, the Centre had been made Covid secure and
had undergone some refurbishments;
It was pleasing to see the enthusiasm of the public for the
return of live events and performances but this needed to
be more sustainable and cost effective;
Customers would be able to book online or via telephone;
The new staffing structure would be flexible, could be
expanded when the needs of the programme of the Centre
required it, and would be a better use of staffing resources.
Following the pandemic, newly released films were
available to the Council earlier than previously allowed and
this presented an opportunity for visitors to see the latest
releases earlier.
The Centre would programme more films/productions on a
Sunday to support town centre footfall and ensure that the
centre is open flexibly for the public.

The following points were raised by members:
•

Concern that the staff restructure was taking place too
early and that there had been a lack of consultation on the
new proposal for the South Holland Centre with both them
and the public.

•

That further scrutiny and input from external experts was
needed before a decision could be made on the staff
restructure.
o The Portfolio Holder for Communities and Facilities
responded that a task group could be set up in a few
months’ time to look at how the structure was
working and that the proposed structure presented
to Council was an opportunity to secure the future of
the Centre. He also confirmed that a Friends of the
South Holland Centre group was being set up so
that the Council could work closely with local groups
and receive feedback.

•

That members of the public who had previously
volunteered at the Centre had not been contacted in
preparation for the re-opening of the Centre on the 22 July
2021.
o The Portfolio Holder for Communities and Facilities
confirmed that volunteers had been contacted and
would be back in the Centre the following week.

Page 15

- 22 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

•

Concern that in a press release in November 2020, staff
had been told that they were in ‘safe hands’ but that it did
not look like that was the case anymore.
o The Portfolio Holder for Communities and Facilities
responded that the staff had been praised in his
earlier words to Members, but the Council could not
continue to spend £1m over 4 years on the Centre
without a restructure taking place. He also
confirmed that there was a number of vacancies
across the organisation that staff were able to apply
for.

•

Asking how fears of local theatre groups could be calmed.
o The Portfolio Holder for Communities and Facilities
responded that live performances would return later
in the year and that this was a major part of the
South Holland Centre’s offer to the people of South
Holland.

•

Concerns that members had been presented with only one
option for the future of the Centre and asked what hours
the Centre would be open following the revised programme
launch.
o The Communities Manager responded that there
was uncertainty over hours until recovery of the
sector could be seen. She also confirmed that
staffing levels would increase/decrease depending
on what events were scheduled, and that the
flexibility of the structure set out in the report would
allow for this.

• That a Scrutiny task group may not be appropriate and that
better use could be made of the Centre. Members advised
that a steering group should be set up to look at the
situation pre-covid and that there would be a need to use
local and professional knowledge to assist with the work of
the potential steering group.
o The Portfolio Holder for Communities and Facilities
reiterated that a Friends of South Holland group
would be set up and other experts could be included
to show a new path for the Centre.
• Questioning how much consideration had been given to
the proposals within the report and that the Council should
liaise with other local authorities on the running of a
successful theatre.
• Reiterating that the future of the South Holland Centre

Page 16

- 23 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

would be in danger if the recommendations set out in the
report were not accepted. They also advised that help and
advice could be received within the new partnership with
Boston Borough and East Lindsey District Councils.
• That live performances were part of the plan, but they
would have to be phased in and Arts Council funding was
given to help with this. They commented that public
consultation made it clear that many Centre users did not
want to come back without social distancing in place.
• That the grants that had been received were used to
safeguard the building for arts and culture and the report
presented to Council had ambitions to expand the
programme with a flexible approach. It was hard to ignore
the human impact, but hard decisions needed to be made.
• That it was the wrong time for a restructuring of the Centre
to take place, and that it should be undertaken at the end
of the process, with Centre staff being redeployed to other
departments of the Council in the meantime.
• That the new South-East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership
would enable the Council to gather information and advice
from partners, and help improve the South Holland Centre
offering. Members asked whether other authorities had
been consulted as part of the preparation of the report.
o The Assistant Director – Communities and
Operations responded that a culture and leisure
expert had been sought for advice around plans
for re-opening and reassured Members that the
Council was in constant contact with
neighbouring authorities and groups around
South Holland; this included national groups.
o The Portfolio Holder for Communities and
Facilities also added that the Council had been
required to bid for the grant funding that it had
received for the Centre and that this had not
been given out automatically by the government.
•

Asked whether the main doors to the Centre were still
locked and if the building was open full time for the public
to be able to book tickets for performances.
o The Communities Manager responded that
booking was available 24/7 online and that the
team were currently testing customer feedback
on booking. They confirmed that the Box Office
would be open prior to and during a

Page 17

- 24 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 29 July 2021

performance and tickets could also be bought
on the door. Customer feedback would be
evaluated at every stage of re-opening and
customers would also be surveyed throughout
the year.
The appendix relating to this item was attached to the agenda as
an exempt item. However, no discussion was required on the
exempt appendix and the item was therefore considered in open
session.
DECISION:
1) That the update contained within the report in respect of
the reopening plans for the South Holland Centre be noted;
2) That the proposed changes to the staffing structure in
respect of the South Holland Centre be approved, and that
the Executive Director (Strategy & Resource) in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Communities and
Facilities be authorised to implement the proposed staffing
structure and to take any incidental or subsidiary action
that may be necessary to enable such implementation.
34.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE
URGENT
There were none.

(The meeting ended at 8.25 pm)
(End of minutes)

Page 18

Issued – 13 September
2021

KEY DECISION PLAN

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision
is likely to be made, to:
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk
The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

Page 19

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period from the date of publication of
any decision.
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

1

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

Agenda Item 9.

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

Acquisition of a second hand property.

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader
Before 30 Sep 2021

Property
acquisition to
support Housing
Options service
delivery (A)

Page 20

Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning

Acquisition of property.

Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader
Before 30 Sep 2021

Property
acquisition to
support Housing
Options service
delivery (C)
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning

Acquisition of property

Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader
Before 30 Sep 2021

Property
acquisition to
support Housing
Options service
delivery (D)

2

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

Acquisition of property

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader
Before 30 Sep 2021

Property
acquisition to
support Housing
Options service
delivery (E)

Page 21

Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning

Acquisition of property

Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader
Before 30 Sep 2021

Property
acquisition to
support Housing
Options service
delivery (F)
Portfolio Holder
for HRA &
Private Sector
Housing

Fire door replacement and associated
fire compliance works to sheltered
schemes

Assistant Director
Housing, or any other
officer with delegation
Before 30 Sep 2021

Fire door and
Compliance
contract

3

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

To agree a framework for future HRA
housing development investment
decisions.

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION
Cabinet 26 Oct 2021, or
Leader
South Holland District
Council 24 Nov 2021

HRA
Development
Framework
Portfolio Holder
for Communities
& Facilities

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

To assess the impact of Covid-19 on
the leisure operating contract

Cabinet 26 Oct 2021, or
Leader

Page 22

South Holland District
Council 24 Nov 2021

Implications from
Covid-19 on the
leisure operating
contract

*Cabinet Membership

4

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor P E Coupland (Deputy Leader)
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor H Drury (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Grocock (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor E J Sneath (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Page 23

Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Cabinet

To:

South Holland District Council Wednesday, 22 September 2021

(Author:

Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader)

Subject

Report from Cabinet meeting on 7 September 2021

Purpose:

To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:
•

2020/21 Financial Outturn – To provide information on the outturn financial
position of the Council as at 31 March 2021 (Cabinet minute 6) (Cabinet
agenda item 7)

Recommendations to Council:
1) That the General Fund Underspend be transferred to the Council Tax Reserve; and
2) That the General Fund Capital Programme and HRA Capital Programme be approved as set
out in Section 4 of Appendix A

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution provides that only the full Council may exercise the
functions of approving, adopting or amending the policy framework and budget, and
adopting or changing the Constitution. Staffing matters are also a Council function. The
Cabinet however has a responsibility for advising the Council on such matters. At its
meeting on 7 September 2021, the Cabinet made recommendations to Council in respect
of the above item which may affect the budget and policy framework, Constitution or
comprise staffing issues.

1.2

The remainder of this report details the recommendations of the Cabinet which must be
read in conjunction with the individual report to Cabinet, a copy of which is attached as
appendices.

2.0

2020/21 FINANCIAL OUTTURN
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Agenda Item 7 attached)

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy &
Partnerships and the Executive Director (Strategy & Resources) (S151) which
provided information on the outturn financial position of the Council as at 31 March
2021.
Members questioned what the additional £66,000 in relation to the Finance Team
had been used for. The Assistant Director – Finance confirmed that this money had
been an additional resource in order to administer the COVID Business Grant
Scheme.

Page 25

DECISION:
a) That the report and Appendix A be noted.
b) That the contributions to and use of reserves be agreed in line with para 5.5.1 to
5.5.3 and Appendix A, Tables 3 and 4 of the report.

(Other options considered:
• To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
To provide members with information on the Council’s overall financial performance
in 2020/21.)

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader
01775 764454
cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Cabinet Agenda Item 7
Appendix B
Cabinet Agenda Item 7 – Appendix A

Page 26

APPENDIX A
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategies, Partnerships, Strategy &
Partnerships and the Executive Director - Strategy and Resources (S151)

To:

Cabinet 7 September 2021
South Holland District Council 22 September 2021

Author:

Samantha Knowles – Assistant Director - Finance
Carl Holland, Strategic Finance Manager (PSPSL)

Subject:

2020/21 Financial Outturn

Purpose:

To provide information on the outturn financial position of the Council as at
31 March 2021.

Recommendation(s) to Cabinet:
1) That the report and Appendix A be noted.
2)

That the contributions to and use of reserves be agreed in line with para 5.5.1 to 5.5.3 and
Appendix A, Tables 3 and 4 of this report.

Recommendation(s) to Council:
3) The General Fund Underspend be transferred to the Council Tax Reserve
4) That the General Fund Capital Programme and HRA Capital Programme be approved as
set out in Section 4 of Appendix A.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected
year end out-turn against the budgets. This report provides information on the unaudited
2019/20 outturn financial position for the following areas:
• The General Fund Revenue Budget (GF),
• Housing Revenue Account (HRA),
• The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position,
• The Capital Programme for 2020/21 (GF and HRA), and
• The Treasury Management Performance for the year.

Page 27

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed above.

2.2

Do nothing.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To provide members with information on the Council’s overall financial performance in
2020/21.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

To ensure that members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council
Financial position.

4.2

To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond quickly
to opportunities as they arise.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

This report is financial in nature. The outturn position in respect of the General Fund, HRA,
Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised below with
further detail at Appendix A.

5.2

General Fund Revenue Outturn

5.2.1

The final year actual was an underspend of £125k. Additional Government Grant (£1.340m)
to help support Councils with budget pressures resulting from the Covid pandemic and
(£0.407m) compensation for a proportion of income lost in sales, fees and charges has been
received in the year. It is recommend that the £125k underspend is transferred to the Council
Tax Reserve.

5.2.2

The revenue outturn position by Directorate is detailed at Appendix A - Table 1 together
with an analysis of service variations.

5.3

Business Rates & S31 Grants

5.3.1

As a result of the Covid pandemic, the Government announced expanded NNDR relief for
Retail, Hospitality, Leisure and Nurseries, which totalled around £8m for South Holland.
Government have fully recompensed Councils for this lost income through NNDR S31
grants received in 2020/21.

5.3.2

In addition, the Government adopted 75% income compensation schemes for lost income
in 2020/21 relating to irrecoverable Council Tax and Business Rates (NNDR), with values
calculated at the end of the financial year and recognised in the 2020/21 financial year.

Page 28

5.3.3

Both these reliefs and irrecoverable income create a deficit to the council through lost
NNDR and Council Tax income. Due to accounting rules, the surplus or deficit on Council
Tax (£17k surplus) and NNDR income (£4.072m deficit) are recognised in the following
year (i.e. 2021/22), and are therefore reversed out of the Retained Business Rates figure
below, however, the income compensation was paid in the 2020/21 financial year. The
Council approved at its meeting on 3 March 2021, that these grants be carried forward in
full to the 2021/22 financial year to cover the deficits recognised.
Budget
£’000

5.4

Outturn
£’000

Variance
£'000

Retained Business Rates

(3,493)

(3,517)

(24)

Section 31 Grant due in 20/21

(1,252)

(5,257)

(4,005)

Transfer to Earmarked Grants
Reserve relating to S31 Grant

-

4,005

4,005

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn

5.4.1 The HRA has delivered a total surplus budget of (£3.019m), a favourable forecast of
(£471k), detail is provided at Appendix A - Table 2.
5.5

Reserves (GF and HRA)

5.5.1

The Council approved changes at its meetings in the year resulting in an increased actual
use of reserves £1.314m (due in the main to transfer funding of £1.1m to the Food
Enterprise Zone). As explained at 5.3.3 above, the reserves have also received a
contribution of grant earmarked for use in 2021/22 of £4.005m. The actual net contribution
to reserves for 2020/21 is (£3.403m) with further detail shown in Appendix A – Table 3.

5.5.2

In addition, the General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m.

5.5.3

The HRA General Reserve balance has delivered an overall increase of £3.787m from
£23.595m to £27.382m. More detail is provided at Appendix A – Table 4.

5.6 Capital – General Fund
5.6.1

The total General Fund Capital Programme for 2020/21 was £9.221 all of which had
received specific scheme approval. Compared to the approved budged the in-year spend
totalled £7.633m, giving an underspend of £1.588m.

Page 29

5.6.2

Appendix A – Table 6 provides more information on the 2020/21 General Fund capital
outturn position, how it was funded and the variances from budget. Table 7 provides details
of the revised 2021/22 capital programme as a result of required rollover of underspent
budgets.

5.6.3

It is recommended that Council approves the revised 2021/22 General Fund Capital
Programme, as set out at Appendix A table 6, of £9.221m.

5.6.4

During 2021/22 there may be new emerging capital project funding requirements. Any
required amendments to the capital programme will be presented in the Quarterly reports
during 2021/22.

5.7 Capital – HRA
5.7.1

The total HRA Capital programme for 2020/21 was £6.377m all of which had received specific
scheme approval. Against this approved budget in-year spend totalled £4.912m, an
underspend of £1.465m. Appendix A Table 9.

5.7.2

It is recommended that Council approves the revised 2021/22 HRA Capital Programme, as
set out at Appendix A table 9, of £6.377m.

6

Treasury Management.

6.1.1

Appendix A - Section 5 provides information on the investments held by the Council at 31
March 2020 (£50.7m). The average investments held during the year were £50.66m.

6.1.2

Interest earned on investments in 2020/21 was £325k (compared to the budget of £544k).

6.1.3

Members are asked to note the Treasury Management position. More information on
Treasury Management is available in the Treasury Annual Report which was considered by
Governance and Audit Committee on 29 July 2021, and will be considered by Full Council
on 22 September 2021.

7

Statement of Accounts.

7.1.1

The unaudited Statement of Accounts for the financial year ended 31st March 2021 have
been provided to the Council’s auditors (Ernst Young), with the audit due to commence in
October 2021.

7.1.2

The unaudited Statement of Accounts was published on the Council’s website on 30 July
2021 for public inspection, in line with The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

7.1.3

The Financial Statements have been prepared under The Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).

8

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

Page 30

8.1.1

Income and expenditure affects all wards of the Council.

9

ACRONYMS

9.1.1

GF
HRA
MHCLG
MTFS

General Fund
Housing Revenue Account
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Medium term Financial Strategy

Background papers:

The 2020/21 Estimates Report to Council 26 February 2020
Q1 Outturn 2020/21 to Cabinet 15 September 2020
Q2 Outturn 2020/21 to Cabinet 27 October 2020
Q3 Outturn 2020/21 to Cabinet 16 February 2021

Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance
01775 764684
SKnowles@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Financial report for 2020/21 with details of the GF and HRA revenue
spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury Management.

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
South Holland District Council
Financial report for the Period ended 31 March 2021
This report has five sections
• Section 1 – General Fund Revenue budget
• Section 2 - HRA Budget
• Section 3 – Reserves
• Section 4 - Capital budget
• Section 5 – Treasury update
Section 1 – General Fund
Outturn Summary:
The total General Fund (GF) budget requirement for the year was £12,552k as approved by Council
on 26 February 2020.
The final GF outturn position is an underspend of (£125k) (Table 1). This position required some
support from reserves for unplanned expenditure. The use of reserves to support the budget is
detailed at Table 4. The significant variances from budget that have contributed to the GF outturn
position are detailed in the notes to Table 1 below.
Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Outturn

Note

Directorate

Commercialisation
Commercialisation
Economic Development
Finance
Revenues and Benefits

1
2
3
4

Commercialisation Total
Place
Asset and Property
Building Control
Communities
Housing
Environmental Services
Planning
Spalding Special Expenses
Investment Properties
Public Protection
Town Centre Improvement Programme

5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

Page 33

Page 1 of 25

Budget
£'000

Actual
£'000

Variance
Pressure /
(Favourable)
£'000

389
114
1,215
379

300
181
1,269
686

(89)
67
54
307

2,097

2,436

339

284
(24)
996
510
3,803
2
64
(186)
441
0

242
11
1,379
267
4,134
(288)
64
(155)
434
0

(42)
35
383
(243)
331
(290)
0
31
(7)
0

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B

Place Total
Strategy & Governance
Corporate Improvement and Performance
Communications
Corporate Management
Democratic Services
HR
ICT and Customer Services
Environmental Health Consultancy UK

13
14
15
16
17
18
19

Strategy & Governance Total

Statutory recharge to the HRA for support
services

Internal Drainage Boards and Parish Precepts
Interest Payable and Similar Charges
Interest Receivable and Similar Income
Increase/(Decrease) in impairment allowance
Transfer to/from earmarked reserves
Efficiencies Requirement

20
21
22

Total Cost of Services

5,890

6,088

198

165
146
583
1,025
348
1,281
39

173
182
662
1,078
323
1,216
60

8
36
79
53
(25)
(65)
21

3,587

3,694

107

(1,962)

(1,967)

(5)

3,457
0
(383)
86
773
(993)

3,457
0
(246)
60
773
(76)

0
0
137
(26)
0
917

12,552

14,219

1,667

(2,754)
(6,305)
(3,493)

(2,762)
(6,318)
(3,517)
(1,747)
(14,344)

(8)
(13)
(24)
(1,747)
(1,792)

(125)

(125)

Financing
Government Grants
Council Tax
Retained Business Rates
Local Authority COVID Support Grant
Total Financing

23
24

(12,552)

Underspend transferred to reserves
Notes to Table 1:
Significant variances are detailed in the notes below.
Commercialisation and Growth

1. Commercialisation (£89k) favourable.
• Saving for shared planning policy service with Boston Borough Council (£41k).
• Favourable saving of (£129k) for employment costs arising from vacant posts in Planning
Policy.

Page 34

Page 2 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
•
•

Delivery Unit has an income pressure of £55k for additional Industrial Units, works which
have been reprofiled to future years. £13k spend of Covid compliance activity.
Additional spend on professional services to support responsive maintenance of assets and
property £13k.

2. Economic Development £67k pressure.
Staff resources have diverted away from Grants for Growth work towards Covid-19 Business
Support grant. This resource was budgeted to be funded by Grants for Growth grant £34k.
Additional resource was needed to provide support for business covid grants £33k.
3. Finance £54k pressure.
• Additional costs for administering the distribution of business support grants by the PSPS
Revenues and Finance Services £66k.
• Reduction in additional pension costs (£16k)
• Additional External Audit costs Covid-19 related £8k adverse.
• Overspend on Insurance and Asset Valuation services £13k.
• Internal audit fees over accrued from 2019/20 (£14k)
4. Revenues and Benefits £307k pressure.
• Council Tax Collection - Court income was nil whilst lockdown was in effect and courts were
not sitting. Courts have since been held, achieving income of £142k an adverse variance of
£96k.
• Housing Benefit Overpayments recovery income was budgeted to be £350k, increasingly
benefits are being administered by the Department for Work and Pensions under Universal
Credit and as a result the income forecast from overpayments has reduced to £113k, an
adverse variance of £236k.
• Actual subsidy received was (£25k) more than that which had been budgeted.
Place
5. Assets and Property (£42k) favourable.
• Estimated utility savings for vacant premises during pandemic (£12k).
• Rent income pressure £16k, in respect of garage income.
• Priory Road Covid Secure installations £2k. (£10k) saving on furniture and equipment
budget.
• (£22k) underspend on programmed and responsive maintenance budget.
• Vacant posts (16k)
6. Building Control £35k pressure.
• Building Control Fee and Consultancy income an adverse impact on income of £6k.
• Land charges – reduction in income of £29k and due to a change in service demand an
increase in professional fees £5k.
• Salary efficiency target adverse £13k.
• Mileage savings (£3k).
• Building maintenance savings (£4k)
• Other various supplies and service savings (£10k).
7. Communities £383k pressure.

Page 35

Page 3 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
•
•

•
•
•

Grant from the Arts Council for England has resulted in achievement of budget for the South
Holland Centre with variances of £16k reported for unachieved salary efficiency savings and
£4k for Covid compliance costs.
Leisure management support costs have resulted in an adverse variance of £451k as a
result of temporary closure in compliance with pandemic guidelines, which has been funded
from support grant and Covid-19 grant, this also includes costs for implementing safer
opening measures.
Net saving of (£44k) from temporary closure to the public of Ayscoughfee Museum and
Gardens.
Community Cohesion has an adverse outturn of £17k as a result of spend on Street
marshals for safer high streets £8, funded from Covid-19 grant, reduced court cost income
£5k and £4k for legal costs.
Due to non-delivery of cultural and sports events a favourable movement of (£58k) is
forecast.

8. Housing (£243k) Favourable.
• Unbudgeted recovery of fees for administering Disabled Facilities Grants (£43k) favourable
movement.
• Unplanned income from enforcement of improvement orders (£11k), licence fees (£3k) and
other court income (£3k).
• Unbudgeted repairs to homelessness accommodation £43k.
• Employee savings (£27k).
• Net saving on Homelessness budget (£165k).
• Additional Homelessness grant received (£64k).
• Additional private sector housing maintenance costs £20k.
• Additional Covid response cost for travellers sites £3k.
9. Environmental Services £331k pressure.
• As reported at quarter 3 there has been a cost of additional freighters £59k and crew £50k
to provide COVID-19 safe operating environment for waste collection service plus £13k for
protective equipment.
• Employee costs are (£82k) less than budgeted. In quarter 1 the pandemic impacted
Environmental Services through lockdown and shielding. Crews have responded to ensure
delivery of vital services. There has been a reduction in non-Covid related sickness and a
reduction in the holiday taken in 2020/21. This along with the new Covid safe working patterns
has meant that the budgeted spend to cover holiday and sickness for this financial year has
been less than expected.
• Cleaning materials and cleaning staff £18k for Council facilities as a result of the extended
pandemic lockdown.
• A reduction in car parking income of £309k has occurred as a result of the charge free
period in quarter 1 and potential reduction in ticket purchases due to COVID-19.
• Reduction in car park income processing fees of (£8k) due to reduced car parking fees paid
by cash.
• The outturn for Market operations has resulted in an adverse variance of £83k as a result of
the free market period and revision to fees 1st April - 30th September.
• Environmental Service operations have benefited from a reduction in fuel price resulting in a
favourable outturn of (£49k). Vehicle maintenance costs offset this benefit by £35k and
Insurance excess is an adverse cost of £7k.

Page 36

Page 4 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
•

•
•
•

Additional income has been achieved for Garden waste of (£36k) and Special collections
(£31k). Garden waste additional staffing costs are £11k and Pride in South Holland spend
on agency staff rose by £31k to ensure continuity of service whilst complying with Covid
Lockdown and isolation requirements throughout the year.
Bus Station income reduction of £3k as a result of reduced service levels during the
pandemic
Other supplies and Professional service saving of (£52k) in Grounds maintenance were
achieved.
Refuse Collection reduced spend by (£9k) on professional fees and Street Cleansing
achieved a further (£9k) of charges to other organisations.

10. Planning (£290k) favourable.
• Planning Application Fees have improved since last reported following an increase in the
number of applications and the receipt in December of a major application, the service has
achieved a favourable variance of (£190k) after transferring £100k to reserves.
• Staff posts held vacant achieved a (£60k) saving.
• Spend on agency and professional fees are favourable by (£29k).
• Forecast agency staff saving (£5k) and a (£23k) reduction in supplier charges. A favourable
movement of (£15k).
• Other savings include (£9k) of legal fees and (£4k) of officer travel costs.
11. Investment Properties £31k pressure.
• Reduction of £31k income from Industrial units as a result of pause on lease renewals during
Pandemic and void premises.
12. Public Protection (£7k) favourable.
• Licensing Act income collection has been paused to be recovered later in year. The County
Council paused the issuing of any new Taxi Licences in the year and collection of other
licensing income was also paused during the year resulting in an adverse impact on
budgeted income of £14k.
• The service has been diverted to supporting Covid-19 enforcement and much of its activities
have been funded by support grant. This has resulted in other budget underspends
amounting to (£7k)
• Savings of (£14k) from reduced travel costs and other reduced spend.
13. Corporate Improvement and Performance £8k pressure.
• Unbudgeted employee costs of £8k.
Strategy and Governance.
14. Communications £36k pressure.
• £27k for leaflet drop and COVID awareness measures, funded from Covid-19 grant
• Unachieved Salary Efficiency target £5k.
15. Corporate Management £79k pressure.
• Local Government Re-organisation cost of opportunity development £24k.
• Additional communication costs as a result of Covid-19 compliance and maintaining continuity
£15k.
• Employee costs to support Covid-19 response activity £40k.

Page 37

Page 5 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B

16. Democratic and Legal Services £53k pressure.
• Covid related legal advice £12k.
• Unbudgeted legal fee income (£20k)
• Savings from digital Electoral registration (£30k).
• Savings from vacant posts (£26k).
• Savings from Councillor travel restrictions (£10k) and reduced Chairman’s costs (£10k).
• Software related costs to support remote meetings £4k adverse movement.
• Other Democratic Representation savings £2k
• Unachieved Procurement savings £128k
17. HR (£25k) favourable.
• Apprentice posts not recruited during the year.
18. ICT and Customer Services (£65k) favourable.
• (£36k) saving on software licences.
• Savings on server maintenance £27k and unspent professional fees budget £45k
• Overspend on employee training costs £5k.
• Unbudgeted costs of new Payroll system £30k and extension of Internet Management
Solution contract £11k.
19. Environmental Health Consultancy £21k pressure.
• £21k Reduction in income & associated costs, as a result of no live course delivery.
Corporate Financing
20. Investment Income £137k pressure - Markets rates have reduced since budget setting as
result of external economic factors.
21. Decrease in Impairment allowance (£26k) reduced provision - The provision for bad debt
has been reviewed on the basis of better than anticipated performance of historic overpaid
housing benefits. The review has resulted in removing the need for the budgeted (£26k)
contribution to bad debt provision.
22. Savings Requirement £0.931m pressure - As a result of the economic impact of COVID-19
there has been a delay to our efficiencies programme, revised plans and options have been
developed for 2021/22. Savings achieved include Environmental Services operations £62k and
Business Rates Rebate on Public Conveniences (£14k).
23. Government Grants £8k favourable - The Council has received grant in continued support of
the corporate wide requirement to meet the requirements of transparency new burdens.
24. Local Authority COVID Support Grant £1.746m favourable - The Council has received
COVID support grant of £1.340m in order to support additional costs associated with the COVID
response. Sales, Fees and Charges income compensation has been received of £0.407m

Page 38

Page 6 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B

Section 2 – Housing Revenue Account
Table 2 – Forecast Revenue Outturn

Note

Service Area

Rent Income – Dwellings
Charges for Services and Facilities
Contributions to Expenditure
Total Income
Repairs and Maintenance
Supervision and Management
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges
Depreciation
Movement in the allowance for bad debts
Statutory recharge to the HRA for support
services
Total Expenditure

Budget
£'000

Variance
Pressure /
(Favourable)
£'000

(15,049)
(1,176)
(27)
(16,252)

(15,066)
(1,203)
(6)
(16,275)

(17)
(27)
21
(23)

3
4
5
6
7

2,894
3,079
76
3,236

2,255
2,871
61
3,816

(639)
(208)
(15)
580

271

18

(253)

8

1,962

1,967

5

11,518

10,988

(530)

(4,734)

(5,287)

(553)

(161)

(79)

82

2,347

2,347

-

-

-

-

(2,548)

(3,019)

(471)

1
2

Contribution from Operations
Investment Income

Actual
£'000

8

Interest Payable on £67.456m
Capital expenditure charged in year
Transfer to MRR & Other Adjustments
Net (Surplus)/Deficit
Notes to Table 2:
1.

Charges for Services and Facilities (£27k) favourable
Service Charge income favourable variance of (£24k), mainly Sheltered Housing Charges
which are under review in 2021/22
• Guest Rooms income (£3k) following usage for homeless during Covid crisis.
• Two Land Easements income (£16k) not known at time of budget
• Reduction in Lifeline service income of £15k in line with year to date actuals and prior year
outturn.
•

2.
•

3.

Contributions to Expenditure £21k pressure
Court Income £27k did not materialise due to limitations on taking tenants to court during
Covid, but is offset by a reduction in legal costs in Supervision and management
Repairs and Maintenance (£639k) favourable

Page 39

Page 7 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
•

•
•
•
•
•
4.

General Maintenance spend is significantly down on budget (£346k), there have been a
number of factors impacting the spend within the Housing Repairs service during 2020/21.
New contracts have continued to deliver savings on both materials and from contractors.
There have also been additional savings from reduced reliance on vehicle hire, following
the delivery of the new fleet of housing repairs vehicles. In addition, there has been some
periods where only emergency repairs have been attended in order to comply with
lockdown requirements.
Other contractor fees have not been incurred as a result of limiting activity to emergency
repairs (£46k)
Savings on Staff Travel due to Covid (£12k)
Vehicle costs (Fuel and Repairs) are (£11k) less than budget due to lower mileage during
Covid lockdown.
Further savings have been achieved on council Tax (£3k) (included in Operational
buildings apportionment), Telephones (£13k), Cleaning (£2k) Stationery (£2k) Clothing
(£3k).
£153k of Renewable Heat Incentive Grant income.

Supervision and Management £208k favourable
• Overspends on:
i. Covid safety measures and cleaning for Sheltered Housing communal
areas £20k, Covid Security Costs for Sheltered Housing £38k, printing
and distribution costs of Covid notices £4k.
ii. Language Line translation services £13k,
iii. Pooling Audit £5k
iv. Employee Costs £75k – Housing Enabling team growth £12k and Salary
Efficiencies not achieved £15k
v. Insurance Costs £19k
vi. Sewage Treatment works repairs £10k
vii. Year End Valuation Fees £10k
viii. Spend of Covid Hardship Fund to support Housing Services Tenancy
Sustainability Policy £4k
ix. Accommodation Costs for tenants £16k
x. PSPS IT Transformation £31k one off revenue expenditure.
xi. Manpower Costs £14k Housing Enabling, £11k Salary efficiency targets
not met
xii. Right to Buy admin Fee income less than expected due to lower than
anticipated R-T-B Sales £8k
• Underspends on:
i. Tenant Participation Costs (£12k)
ii. Repairs (£85k) - £54k works completed within HRT budget and therefore
budget not needed in 2020/21. Savings on Community Facilities (£25k) as a
result of only essential work being performed during lockdown periods.
Footpath works delayed for further review (£14k).
iii. Alarm Monitoring Costs (£36k) – later than anticipated contract increase and
conservative cost budget
iv. Legal Fees £22k see income in 2 above.
v. Reduced staff travel costs (£15k)
vi. Reduced spend on subscriptions (£12k)

Page 40

Page 8 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
vii. Reduced spend on staff training (£58k) as a result of cancellations due to Covid
restrictions.
viii. Utilities – Forecast in line with last year and actuals to date (£33k)
ix. Project Management Income, slightly higher than anticipate due to rephasing
of spend on capital projects £6k
x. Bank Charges £4k
xi. Contingency budget for Professional fees £104k not required in 2020/21.
5. Rents Rates Taxes and Other Charges (£15k) favourable
• Spend contained within Operational Building Budget and therefore budget nor required
in 2020/21
6. Depreciation £580k pressure – Calculated annually based upon latest Revaluations.
7. Movement in Allowance for Bad Debts £253k favourable – Revised calculations based
upon outstanding Debt as at 31st March 2021
8. Interest and Investment Income £81k reduction in Income
• Markets rates have reduced since budget setting as result of external economic factors.

Page 41

Page 9 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
Section 3 – Reserves
Table 3 - General Fund Reserves
The below table has been updated from quarter 2 to adopt the decision by Council at its meeting 23rd September 2020 to re-assign
£234k to earmarked reserves from other specific reserves.

Reserve
Transformation

Page 42

Investment and
Growth

Balance
31/03/2020
£'000
(141)

Transfer to
Reserve
(Contributions)
£'000
0

Transfer
from
Reserve
(Capital)
£'000
26

(5,263)

(1,195)

1,283

Transfer
from
Reserve
(Revenue)
£'000
44

Contra
movement
between
Reserves
(Revenue)
£’000
0

597

89

Page 10 of 25

Balance
31/03/2021
£'000
Transfer details
(71) Capital Spend
£22k Office 365; £4k Shared Public
Protection Software
Revenue Spend
£5k EHC Apprentice; £23k Interim O365
Programme Manager; £16k Shared
National Graduate Trainee
(4,489) Contributions
(£52k) Garden Waste; (£4k) Fleet
Maintenance; (£29k) Leisure
Management Return; (£1,067k) New
Homes Bonus; (£43k) Food Enterprise
Zone.
Capital Spend
£9k Leisure Sports Hall Boiler; £31k
Environmental Services Asset
Replacement Program; £38k Green
Waste Bins; £9k Industrial Unit repairs –
Crease Drove; £51k Priory Road Air
Conditioning Works; £47k PSPS
Transformation Investment, £1,099k
Food Enterprise Zone.
Revenue Spend

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B

Reserve

Balance
31/03/2020
£'000

Transfer to
Reserve
(Contributions)
£'000

Transfer
from
Reserve
(Capital)
£'000

Contra
movement
between
Reserves
(Revenue)
£’000

57

(233)

Page 43

Transfer
from
Reserve
(Revenue)
£'000

Earmarked Grants

(453)

(4,558)

122

Page 11 of 25

Balance
31/03/2021
£'000

Transfer details
£23k Temporary Housing Resource;
£15k Refuse Collection Efficiency
Programme; £20k Leisure Centre
Maintenance; £14k Moulton Park; £56k
Delivery Unit Project Management;
£120k Delivery Unit Contribution; £78k
Holbeach Asset Feasibility; £173k Digital
Strategy; £20k Holbeach Electricity
Infrastructure; £1k Kings Road; £5k
Programme Management Resource;
£22k External Grants Officer; £2k Priory
Road Accommodation; £17k Next Steps
Accommodation Program. £31k Town
Centre Improvement Plan employee
funding.
Contra Movement
£89k Planning Development
Management.
(5,065) Contributions
(£54k) Members Budgets; (£189k) New
Burdens Income; (£86k) Brexit
administration Grant; (£4,005k) Tax
Income Guarantee; (£100k) Planning fee;
(£8k) Earmarked S106 income; (£60k)
Covid Support Grant Public Protection;
(£55k) Employee Training Budget.
Capital Spend
£122k Next Steps Accommodation
Acquisitions.

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B

Reserve

Balance
31/03/2020
£'000

Transfer to
Reserve
(Contributions)
£'000

Transfer
from
Reserve
(Capital)
£'000

Transfer
from
Reserve
(Revenue)
£'000

Page 44
Page 12 of 25

Contra
movement
between
Reserves
(Revenue)
£’000

Balance
31/03/2021
£'000

Transfer details
Revenue Spend
£2k Spalding Special Asset Works; £4k
Planning Employee Training; £51k
Planning HCA Resource.
Contra Movement
Transfers to earmarked reserves (£129k)
Spalding Special; (£90k) Planning: (£5k)
Public Protection Equipment
Replacement: (£10k) NDR Leisure
saving.

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B

Reserve
Council Tax

Transfer to
Balance
Reserve
31/03/2020 (Contributions)
£'000
£'000
(2,060)
(173)

Transfer
from
Reserve
(Capital)
£'000
40

Transfer
from
Reserve
(Revenue)
£'000
445

Page 45

Contra
movement
between
Reserves
Balance
(Revenue) 31/03/2021
£’000
£'000
Transfer details
129
(1,619) Contributions
(£40k) District Elections; (£9k)
Equipment Replacement Programme;
(£125k) 2020/21 GF Surplus.
Capital Spend
£40k Pride – Gladiator.
Revenue Spend
£10k Public Protection Monitoring
Equipment; £430k NNDR Deficit
Funding; £5k Income Management
Software Upgrade.
Contra Movement
£129k Spalding Special.
15
(171) Contributions
(£136k) Revenue Contribution Programmed Property Maintenance.
Revenue Spend
£38k Programmed Property
Maintenance; £7k Condition Surveys.
Contra movement
£5k Public Protection Equipment
Replacement; £10k NDR Leisure
Savings.
0
(11,415)

Replacement and
Refurbishment

(95)

(136)

0

45

Total Specific GF
Reserves
General Reserve

(8,012)

(6,062)

1,471

1,188

(2,078)

0

0

0

0

(2,078)

(10,090)

(6,062)

1,471

1,188

0

(13,493)

Total Reserves

Page 13 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
Table 4 – Housing Revenue Account Reserves
Balance
31 March
Contributions
2020
to Reserve
£’000
£’000

HRA Working Balance:
HRA Insurance Reserve
Major Repairs Reserve

Balance
31 March
2021
£’000

Use of
Reserve
£’000

Page 46

(19,809)

(3,017)

-

(200)

-

-

(3,586)

(3,816)

3,046

(23,595)

(6,833)

3,046

Page 14 of 25

Comments

(22,826) Transfer of HRA surplus to reserve
(200)
(4,356) HRA depreciation contribution to
MRR is used to fund the capital
programme in future years. The
transfer from MRR in-year was used
to fund 2020/21 capital programme
spend
(27,382)

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
Section 4 – Capital
The Q3 Outturn presented at February 2021 Cabinet showed budgeted expenditure of £4,307m, the
following items have been revised since that report:
Table 5 – General Fund Capital Programme movements

2020/21 Capital Programme Budget as at 31st December 2020
Movements from previous forecast
NSAP Homeless Accommodation – Grant Funded
NSAP Homeless Accommodation – Matched Funding
NSAP Homeless Accommodation – Capital Acquisition re Growth and
Commercialisation – Budget Virement
Office 365 Additional Spend – Budget Virement
ICT Infrastructure – Budget Virement
Crease Drove – Reprofiled from 2022/23
Garden Waste – Reprofile Budget from 2021/22
Housing Infrastructure Funding (SWRR)
Welland Homes – Reprofile Budget from 2021/22
TOTAL
2020/21 Revised Capital Programme as at 31st March 2021

Movement
£’000
4,307
289
400
(400)
20
(20)
9
28
3,863
725
4,914
9,221

Notes

Table 6 – General Fund Progress against 2020/21 approved capital programme

Scheme
ICT
ICT Infrastructure
Shared Public Protection Software
Office 365 Additional Spend
PSPS Transformation Investment 60% GF
AIM Upgrade
1

Total ICT
Assets and Property
Priory Road - Central Heating
Priory Road Ventilation Project
Priory Road - Fire Doors and Access
South Holland Centre
South Holland Centre Emergency Lighting
Castle Sports Boiler - Wetside
Industrial Units - Roof replacement
Total Assets & Property

2

Page 47

Page 15 of 25

2020/21
Revised
Budget
£000's

Actual
Outturn
£000's

(Under) /
Over
Spend
£000's

101
21
22
144
20

9
22
46
-

(101)
(12)
(98)
(20)

308

77

(231)

68
83
17
16
43
50
7

51
79
9
-

(17)
(4)
(17)
(16)
(43)
(41)
(7)

284

139

(145)

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
Notes

APPENDIX B

Scheme
Commercialisation
Capital Acquisition (Growth &
Commercialisation)
Electric Vehicle Charging
NSAP Homeless Accommodation

2020/21
Revised
Budget
£000's

Actual
Outturn
£000's

(Under) /
Over
Spend
£000's

600
21
689

315

(600)
(21)
(374)

1,310

315

(995)

Economic Development
Crease Drove Industrial Units
Grants for Growth
Food Enterprise Zone
Housing Infrastructure Fund (SWRR)

9
581
1,100
3,863

9
580
1,098
3,863

(1)
(2)
-

Total Economic Development

5,553

5,550

(3)

38
36
225
7
40

38
31
142
40

(5)
(83)
(7)
-

346

251

(95)

585
75
760

541
760

(44)
(75)
-

1,420

1,301

(119)

9,221

7,633

1,588

Financing of Approved Schemes
Internal Borrowing
Capital Receipts
Grants & Contributions
Direct Revenue Financing

(1,585)
(5,423)
(2,213)

(901)
(5,261)
(1,471)

684
162
742

Total Financing of Approved Schemes

(9,221)

(7,633)

1,588

3

Total Commercialisation

Environmental Services
Garden Waste
Grounds Maintenance
Environmental Services Operational
Fleet Maintenance Vehicles
Gladiator Pavement Cleaning Machine
4

Total Environmental Services
Housing
Disabled Facilities Grants - Private Sector
Housing
Decent Homes Unfit And Disrepair - Housing
Welland Homes

5

Total Housing
Total

Notes to Table 6:
1. ICT (£231k) - Delays to ICT Infrastructure and PSPS Transformation, resources and focus
were diverted to business continuity during lockdown. Balance to be carried forward to
2021/22.

Page 48

Page 16 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
2. Assets & Property (£145k) – Works postponed on Priory Road and South Holland Centre,
whilst premises predominantly vacant. Both to be reviewed and carried forward into 2021/22.

3. Commercialisation (£995k) – £600k capital acquisition budget rolled forward to 2020/21. Two
of the three Next Steps Accommodation Program properties purchased in the year. The third
one was purchased early 2021/22, and all of the conversion work of these properties will also
fall into 2021/22.
4. Environmental Services (£95k) – Funding to be rolled forward for vehicles due in 2021/22
(£95k).
5. Housing (£119k) – Small Underspend on Disabled Facilities grants (£44k) and no demand for
Unfit or Disrepair Homes (£75k). £725k budget re-profile for Welland Homes Loan is due to
units at Tony Worth Close Holbeach being completed on 30th March, but budgeted for 2021/22
As a result of the 2020/21 project activity to the 31 March 2021, it is proposed that the Capital
Programme for 2021/22 is updated as follows in Table 7 and is recommended for approval by Full
Council.
Table 7 – General Fund Capital Programme Revised 2021/22

Project

ICT Infrastructure
Shared Public Protection Software
PSPS Transformation Investment 60% GF
AIM Upgrade
Priory Road – Atrium Heating
Priory Road - Air Conditioning / Cent Heating
Priory Road – Ventilation Project
Priory Road – Hardwood Sash Windows
Priory Road – Fire Doors & Access
South Holland Centre
South Holland Centre Emerg. Lighting
Castle sports Boiler - Dryside
Castle Sports Boiler - Wetside
Ayscoughfee Hall Lighting
Ayscoughfee Hall – Cat 1 and 2 Elec. Works
Ayscoughfee Hall – Emergency Lighting
Temp. Accom. Replace Major Components
Industrial Units Roof Replacement
Industrial Units Development of Compound
Capital Acquisitions re Growth &
Commercialisation
NSAP Homelessness Properties
Electric Vehicle Charging
Food Enterprise Zone
Grants for Growth
HIF Funding

Original
Budget
2021/22
£’000
84
34
15
30
87
12
50
50
53
75
18
29
93
50

Budget
c/f
2020/21
£’000
101
12
98
20
17
4
17
16
43
41
7
-

Revised
Budget
2021/22
£’000
185
46
113
20
30
17
4
87
17
28
43
50
91
53
75
18
29
100
50

500
565
1,000

600
374
21
2
-

1,100
374
21
2
565
1,000

Page 49

Page 17 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
Project

Garden Waste Equipment
Garden Waste Vehicles
Grounds Maintenance
Environmental Services Operational
Fleet Maintenance Vehicles
Street Cleaning Vehicle
Disabled Facilities Grants – Private sector
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair
Welland Homes
Total Approved Schemes

Original
Budget
2021/22
£’000
29
184
37
1,091
62
35
681
75
1,912
6,851

Budget
c/f
2020/21
£’000
(28)
5
83
7
44
(725)
759

(1,338)
(4,687)
(826)
(6,851)

(166)
42
(635)
(759)

Financed By:
Capital Receipts
Capital Grants and Contributions
Internal Borrowing
Revenue Resources

Revised
Budget
2021/22
£’000
1
184
42
1,174
69
35
725
75
1,187
7,610

(1,601)
(4,645)
(1,364)
(7,610)

HRA Progress against 2020/21 approved capital programme
The Q3 Outturn presented at February Cabinet showed budgeted expenditure of £6,371m. There
have been changes to items in the program.
As a result of the 2020/21 project activity to the 31 March 2021, it is proposed that the Capital
Programme for 2021/22 is updated as follows in Table 9 and is recommended for approval by Full
Council.
Table 8 – HRA Capital Programme movements

2020/21 Capital Programme Budget as at 31st December 2020
Movements from previous forecast
Grounds Maintenance Equipment – Reprofile Budget 2021/22
Electrical Upgrade – Budget Virement
Flat Entrance Doors – Budget Virement
Paths and Driveways – Budget Virement
Roofs & Gutters – Budget Virement
TOTAL
2020/21 Revised Capital Programme as at 31st March 2021
Table 9 – HRA Progress against 2020/21 approved capital programme

Page 50

Page 18 of 25

Movement
£’000
6,371
6
23
7
26
(56)
6
6,377

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
Notes

Scheme

Revised
Budget

Forecast
Outturn

(under) /
Over Spend

£000's

£000's

£000's

Decent Homes
Central Heating
Kitchen / Bathroom
Electrical Upgrade
Smoke Alarms
Roofs and Gutters
Flat Entrance Doors Sheltered Schemes
Chimneys
Paths and Drives
Boundary Walls
Fees

870
1,000
98
75
444
7
150
56
95
210

864
975
98
309
7
9
56
210

(6)
(25)
(75)
(135)
(141)
(95)
-

3,005

2,528

(477)

225
200
50

-

(225)
(200)
(50)

475

-

(475)

123
87
6

59
-

(123)
(28)
(6)

216

59

(157)

486

441

(45)

486

441

(45)

Grounds Maintenance
Grounds Maintenance Equipment

19

19

-

Total Grounds Maintenance

19

19

-

1,526
15
10
610
15

1,258
607
-

(268)
(15)
(10)
(3)
(15)

2,176

1,865

(311)

6,377

4,912

(1,465)

1

Total Decent Homes
Major Area schemes
Sewage Treatment Refurbishment
The Square
Car Parks

2

Total Major Area schemes
IT / System
ICT Strategy
Housing IT Systems
ICT Infrastructure

3

Total IT / System
Aids & Adaptations
Major Adaptations

4

Total Aids & Adaptations

Affordable Housing
Weston Redevelopment Scheme
Purchase of units
Purchase of Open Market Properties
Wignals Gate S106 Acquisitions
Schemes Subject to Detailed Approval
Total Affordable Housing

5

Total

Page 51

Page 19 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
Notes

Scheme

Revised
Budget

Forecast
Outturn

(under) /
Over Spend

£000's

£000's

£000's

Financing of Approved Schemes
1-4-1 Receipts
Capital Receipts
Shared Ownership Sales Proceeds
Grants & Contributions
Major Repairs Reserve
Direct Revenue Financing

(33)
(1,210)
(587)
(190)
(4,357)
-

(32)
(1,210)
(434)
(190)
(3,046)
-

1
153
1,311
-

Total Financing of Approved Schemes

(6,377)

(4,912)

1,465

Notes to Table 9:
1. Decent Homes All Elements (£477k)
Work was paused during period of Covid lockdown and emergency works
undertaken only during those periods.
2. Major Area Schemes (£475k) – Similar to Decent Homes above, the covid
lockdowns had a severe impact and no work was completed on these
projects, as resource was diverted to more critical items
3. IT Systems (£157k) - Delays to ICT Infrastructure and PSPS Transformation,
resources and focus were diverted to business continuity during lockdown.
The Northgate Housing project is on track, but stage payments are later than
expected. Balance to be carried forward to 2021/22.
4. Aids and Adaptations (£45k) – Resources refocussed on emergency works
during periods of lockdown.
5. Affordable Housing (£311k).
a. Weston Redevelopment Scheme (£268k) – This project has been completed, with
only retentions and minor contingency items due in 2021/22. Balance to be carried
forward to 2021/22.
b. Purchase of Units (£15k) – This is specific to purchase of units which were
completed in 2019/20, with only Clerk of Work fees to pay. This will be carried
forward into schemes subject to approval.
c. Purchase of Open Market Properties (£10k) - This to the purchase of open market
properties completed in 2019/20, with only Clerk of Works fees to pay. This will be
carried forward into schemes subject to approval.
d. Wignals Gate S106 Acquisition – The first tranche was completed during the year,
with further tranches expected in 2021/22 and 2022/23.
As a result of the 2020/21 project activity to the 31 March 2021, it is proposed that the Capital
Programme for 2021/22 is updated as follows in Table 10 and is recommended for approval by
Full Council.
Table 9 - HRA Capital Programme Revised 2021/22

Page 52

Page 20 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B

6
25
75
135
141
95
477

Revised
Budget
2021/22
£’000
942
1,491
208
960
7
530
532
43
269
233
5,215

208
811
67
1,086

225
200
50
475

433
1,011
117
1,561

ICT Strategy
Housing IT Systems Upgrade
CPBS Transformation Investment 40% HRA
ICT Infrastructure
IT/System

25
152
177

123
28
6
157

148
180
6
334

Major Adaptions
Aids & Adaptions

398
398

-

398
398

Sheltered Alarm Upgrade
Sheltered Alarm Upgrade

690
690

-

690
690

HRT Vehicle Replacement
HRT Vehicle Replacement

50
50

-

50
50

Grounds Maintenance
South Holland Maintenance
Environmental Services

13
65
78

(6)
(6)

7
65
72

87
552
4,067
4,706

268
3
40
311

355
555
4,107
5,017

Total Approved Schemes

11,923

1,414

13,337

Financed By:
1-4-1 Receipts
Capital Receipts

(1,091)
(744)

-

(1,091)
(744)

Project
Central Heating Upgrade
Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement
Decent Homes components
Gutters
Smoke Alarms
Roofs & Gutters
Doors & Windows
Flat Entrance Doors - Sheltered Schemes
Chimneys
Paths & Drives
Boundary Walls
Fees
Decent Homes

Original
Budget
2021/22
£’000
936
1,466
133
825
7
530
391
43
174
233
4,738

Sewerage Treatment Plant
The Square
Car Parks
Major Area Schemes

Weston Redevelopment – Small Drove
Wignals Gate S106
Schemes Subject to Detailed Approval
Affordable Housing

Page 53

Page 21 of 25

Budget
c/f
2020/21
£’000

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
Project
Shared Ownership Sale Proceeds
Grants and Contributions
Direct Revenue Funding
Major Repairs Reserve
Total Financing of Approved Schemes

Original
Budget
2021/22
£’000
(891)
(3,403)
(5,794)
(11,923)

Page 54

Page 22 of 25

Budget
c/f
2020/21
£’000
(1,414)
(1,414)

Revised
Budget
2021/22
£’000
(891)
(3,403)
(7,208)
(13,337)

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
Section 5 – Treasury
Security
The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to monitor
the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk as conditions
change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Link Group which provides a
maximum duration for investments depending on the colour rating calculated for each financial
institution.
All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration at the time
the investment was made.
The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing counterparties
excluding accrued interest.

Cash
The Council’s average level of treasury deposits to 31st March 2021 was £50.66m and non-treasury
deposits was £4.88m based on cost.
As at 31st March 2021 investments held were £50.7m of which £8.5m was instant access cash
available to meet cash flow requirements. Other investments based on fair value were made up of:

Page 55

Page 23 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
£29.5m - Short Term Investments up to 12 Months
£5.0m – 95 Day Notice Account
£2.9m - Welland Homes Equity
£1.1m – South Holland Homes Equity
£3.7m - Welland Homes Loans (Long Term Debtor)
The chart below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to maturity.

Yield
Budgeted Interest 2020/21
£544k (£383k GF and £161k HRA)
Actual Interest achieved to 31/03/21 £325k (£246k GF and £79k HRA).
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID)
0.015%
Actual Yield achieved for 2020/21
0.603%
Actual Yield achieved for 2019/20
1.122%
The COVID19 pandemic has seen interest rates in the market fall during the financial year due to
financial institutions having access to cheap funds from the Bank of England. Also rates have been
lower in the markets due to local authorities receiving large amounts of COVID grant funding which
has supported their cash flow positions and resulted in a lower borrowing requirement.
Below is an indication of the levels achievable on new investments with financial institutions:
1 Month
3 Month
6 Month
1 Year

0.05%
0.09%
0.12%
0.15%

Page 56

Page 24 of 25

Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21
APPENDIX B
External Borrowing
The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations under
the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years on a maturity
basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the financial year.
For reference purposes, the following chart shows the PWLB borrowing rates for new loans during the
financial year.

PWLB borrowing rates were reduced by 1% on 26 November 2020 following the consultation on
PWLB borrowing.

Page 57

Page 25 of 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Executive Director - (Strategy and Resources) (S151), Christine Marshall

To:

South Holland District Council 22 September 2021

Author:

Sean Howsam – Treasury & Investment Manager (PSPS)

Subject:

Annual Treasury Management Review 2020/21

Purpose:

To consider the Annual Treasury Management Review for 2020/21.

Recommendation(s):
1)

That the Council receives and approves the Annual Treasury Management Review
2020/21 as required by the Local Government Act 2003.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to
produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the actual prudential and
treasury indicators for 2020/21. This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA
Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for
Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).
For 2020/21 the following reports have been submitted:
•
•
•

an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 26 February 2020);
a mid year (minimum) treasury update report (Council 20 January 2021);
An annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to
the strategy (this report).

1.2

The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review and scrutiny
of treasury management policy and activities. This report is therefore important in that
respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities and highlights
compliance with the Council’s policies previously approved by members.

1.3

This Council confirms that it has complied with the requirement under the Code to give
prior scrutiny to all of the above treasury management reports by the Governance and
Audit Committee. Member training on treasury management was last provided on 14
November 2019 in order to support the members’ scrutiny role.

1.4

The Treasury Management function is administered by Public Sector Partnership Services
Ltd on behalf of the Council.

1.5

The Council’s financial statements for the 2020/21 financial year are currently subject to
external audit therefore the figures in this report may be subject to change.

Page 59

2.0

INTRODUCTION

2.1

This report summarises the following :•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Capital activity during the year;
Impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness (the Capital
Financing Requirement);
The actual prudential and treasury indicators;
Overall treasury position identifying how the Council has borrowed in relation to its
indebtedness, and the impact on investment balances;
Summary of interest rate movements in the year;
Borrowing and investment outturn positions;
Economy and interest rates.

3.0

THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING 2020/21

3.1

The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets. These activities may
either be:
•

•

3.2

financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no resultant
impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or
if insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, the
capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.

The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators. The
following tables show the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.
£’000 General Fund
Capital expenditure
Financed in year
Unfinanced capital expenditure

£’000
Housing
Account (HRA)

Revenue

Capital expenditure
Financed in year
Unfinanced capital expenditure

2019/20
Actual

2020/21
Estimate

2020/21
Actual

4,046

8,741

7,661

(2,946)

(7,481)

(6,760)

1,100

1,260

901

2019/20
Actual

2020/21
Estimate

2020/21
Actual

8,888

6,371

4,912

(8,888)

(6,371)

(4,912)

-

-

-

Page 60

4.0

THE COUNCIL’S OVERALL BORROWING NEED

4.1

The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the Capital
Financing Requirement (CFR). This figure is a gauge of the Council’s indebtedness. The
CFR results from the capital activity of the Council and resources used to pay for the
capital spend. It represents the 2020/21 unfinanced capital expenditure (see above
table), and prior years’ net or unfinanced capital expenditure which has not yet been paid
for by revenue or other resources.

4.2

Part of the Council’s treasury activities is to address the funding requirements for this
borrowing need. Depending on the capital expenditure programme, the treasury service
organises the Council’s cash position to ensure that sufficient cash is available to meet
the capital plans and cash flow requirements. This may be sourced by utilising temporary
cash resources within the Council or through borrowing from external bodies (such as the
Government, through the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) or the money markets).

4.3

Reducing the CFR – the Council’s (non HRA) underlying borrowing need (CFR) is not
allowed to rise indefinitely. Statutory controls are in place to ensure that capital assets are
broadly charged to revenue over the life of the asset. The Council is required to make an
annual revenue charge, called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), to reduce the
CFR. This is effectively a repayment of the non-HRA borrowing need (there is no
statutory requirement to reduce the HRA CFR). This differs from the treasury
management arrangements which ensure that cash is available to meet capital
commitments. External debt can also be borrowed or repaid at any time, but this does not
change the CFR.
The total CFR can also be reduced by:
•

the application of additional capital financing resources (such as unapplied capital
receipts); or

•

charging more than the statutory revenue charge (MRP) each year through a
Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP).

4.4

The Council’s 2020/21 MRP Policy as required by Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government (MHCLG) guidance was approved as part of the Treasury
Management Strategy Report for 2020/21 on 26 February 2020.

4.5

The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential indicator:
31 March
2020
Actual

31 March
2021
Budget

31 March
2021
Actual

Opening Balance

5,451

6,565

6,565

Add unfinanced capital expenditure
(as above)

1,100

1,260

901

Other adjustments

14

-

-

Closing Balance

6,565

7,825

7,466

CFR (£’000): General Fund

Page 61

31 March
2020
Actual

31 March
2021
Budget

31 March
2021
Actual

68,441

68,427

68,427

-

-

-

Other adjustments

(14)

-

-

Closing Balance

68,427

68,427

68,427

CFR (£’000): HRA

Opening Balance
Add unfinanced capital expenditure
(as above)

Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for net borrowing and the CFR,
and by the authorised limit.
4.6

Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent over
the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that its gross
external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the
preceding year (2019/20) plus the estimates of any additional CFR for the current
(2020/21) and next two financial years. This essentially means that the Council is not
borrowing to support revenue expenditure. This indicator allows the Council some
flexibility to borrow in advance of its immediate capital needs in 2020/21. The table below
highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR. The Council has
complied with this prudential indicator.
31 March 2020 31 March 2021 31 March 2021
Actual
Budget
Actual
(£’000)
(£’000)
(£’000)

4.7

Gross Borrowing Position

67,456

67,456

67,456

CFR

74,992

76,252

75,893

The authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required by s3 of the Local
Government Act 2003. Once this has been set, the Council does not have the power to
borrow above this level. The following table demonstrates that during 2020/21 the Council
has maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit.
The operational boundary is the expected borrowing position of the Council during the
year. Periods where the actual position is either below or over the boundary is acceptable
subject to the authorised limit not being breached.

Page 62

Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator identifies the
trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of
investment income) against the net revenue stream.
2020/21
£91m
£67.456m
£87m
£67.456m

Authorised limit
Maximum gross borrowing position
Operational boundary
Average gross borrowing position
Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream – Non HRA
HRA

-1.96%
39.85%

5.0

TREASURY POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

5.1

The Council’s treasury management debt and investment position is organised by the
treasury management service in order to ensure adequate liquidity for revenue and capital
activities, security for investments and to manage risks within all treasury management
activities. At the beginning and the end of 2020/21 the Council’s treasury position,
including accrued interest, was as follows:

31/3/20
Amount
£’000

Rate/
Return
%

Average
Life

31/3/21
Amount
£’000

Fixed rate funding
PWLB
Leases

67,456
-

3.48
n/a

42 years

67,456
-

3.48
n/a

41 years

Total debt

67,456

3.48

42 years

67,456

3.48

41 years

CFR

74,992

75,893

Over/(under) borrowing

(7,536)

(8,437)

Rate/ Average
Return
Life
%

Cash and investments:
long term equity and
service loans
short term

(7,034)

n/a

n/a

(7,817)

n/a

n/a

(26,118)

0.97

138 days

(34,524)

0.20

167 days

instant access deposits

(11,192)

0.57

1 day

(8,494)

0.02

1 day

(44,344)

0.85

97 days

(50,835)

0.16

134 days

Total cash and
investments
Net debt

23,112

16,621

Page 63

5.2

Investments and Cash and Cash Equivalents held as at 31 March 2021, including accrued
interest, were as follows:

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Actual
31/03/20
£000’s

Actual
31/03/20
%

Actual
31/03/21
£000’s

Actual
31/03/21
%

Banks

26,112

70

32,491

75

Building Societies

3,004

8

2,000

5

Local Authorities

2,001

5

5,027

12

Total managed in house

31,117

83

39,518

92

Money Market Funds

6,193

17

3,500

8

Total managed externally

6,193

17

3,500

8

Total Treasury Investments

37,310

100

43,018

100

Treasury Investments

Non-Treasury Investments (at fair value)
Equity

3,664

52

3,963

51

Service Loans (long term debtors)

3,370

48

3,854

49

Total Non-Treasury Investments

7,034

100

7,817

100

Actual
31/03/20
£000’s

Actual
31/03/20
%

Actual
31/03/21
£000’s

Actual
31/03/21
%

Total Treasury Investments

37,310

84

43,018

85

Total Non-Treasury Investments

7,034

16

7,817

15

Total of all Investments

44,344

100

50,835

100

SUMMARY

The maturity structure of the investment portfolio was as follows:

Investments
Longer than 1 year
Under 1 year
Total

Page 64

2019/20
Actual
£’000

2020/21
Actual
£’000

7,034
37,310
44,344

7,817
43,018
50,835

The exposure to fixed and variable rates on investments was as follows:

Fixed rate
Variable rate

6.0

THE STRATEGY FOR 2020/21

6.1

Investment strategy and control of interest rate risk

31/03/20
Actual
£’000
29,488

31/03/21
Actual
£’000
33,384

(66%)

(66%)

14,856

17,451

(34%)

(34%)

Investment returns which had been low during 2019/20, plunged during 2020/21 to near
zero or even into negative territory. Most local authority lending managed to avoid
negative rates and one feature of the year was the growth of inter local authority lending.
The expectation for interest rates within the treasury management strategy for 2020/21
was that Bank Rate would continue at the start of the year at 0.75% before rising to end
2022/23 at 1.25%. This forecast was invalidated by the Covid-19 pandemic bursting onto
the scene in March 2020 which caused the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) to cut Bank
Rate in March, first to 0.25% and then to 0.10%, in order to counter the hugely negative
impact of the national lockdown on large swathes of the economy. The Bank of England
and the Government also introduced new programmes of supplying the banking system
and the economy with massive amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cashstarved businesses to survive the lockdown. The Government also supplied huge
amounts of finance to local authorities to pass on to businesses. This meant that for most
of the year there was much more liquidity in financial markets than there was demand to
borrow, with the consequent effect that investment earnings rates plummeted.
While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully appreciative
of changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in terms of additional capital

Page 65

and liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the financial crisis. These requirements
have provided a far stronger basis for financial institutions, with annual stress tests by
regulators evidencing how institutions are now far more able to cope with extreme
stressed market and economic conditions.
Investment balances have been kept to a minimum through the agreed strategy of using
reserves and balances to support internal borrowing, rather than borrowing externally from
the financial markets. External borrowing would have incurred an additional cost, due to
the differential between borrowing and investment rates as illustrated in the charts shown
above and below. Such an approach has also provided benefits in terms of reducing the
counterparty risk exposure, by having fewer investments placed in the financial markets.
6.2

Borrowing strategy and control of interest rate risk
During 2020/21, the Council maintained an under-borrowed position. This meant that the
capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not fully funded with
loan debt, as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow was used
as an interim measure. All current loan debt specifically relates to the HRA and the
General Fund has no loan debt. This strategy was prudent as investment returns were
very low and minimising counterparty risk on placing investments also needed to be
considered.
A cost of carry remained during the year on any new long-term borrowing that was not
immediately used to finance capital expenditure, as it would have caused a temporary
increase in cash balances; this would have incurred a revenue cost – the difference
between (higher) borrowing costs and (lower) investment returns.
The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances, has served
well over the last few years. However, this was kept under review to avoid incurring
higher borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not be able to avoid new
borrowing to finance capital expenditure.
Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution was adopted
with the treasury operations. The Section 151 Officer therefore monitored interest rates in
financial markets and adopted a pragmatic strategy based upon the following principles to
manage interest rate risks:
•

if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short
term rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or
of risks of deflation), then long term borrowings would have been postponed.

•

if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long
and short term rates than initially expected, perhaps arising from an acceleration in
the start date and in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an
increase in world economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the
portfolio position would have been re-appraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding
would have been drawn whilst interest rates were lower than they were projected
to be in the next few years.

Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer term fixed
borrowing rates during 2020/21 and the two subsequent financial years. Variable, or
short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing over the period.

Page 66

PWLB rates are based on, and are determined by, gilt (UK Government bonds) yields
through H.M.Treasury determining a specified margin to add to gilt yields. The main
influences on gilt yields are Bank Rate, inflation expectations and movements in US
treasury yields. Inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the
last 30 years in lowering inflation and the real equilibrium rate for central rates has fallen
considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers: this means that central
banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major impact on consumer
spending, inflation, etc. This has pulled down the overall level of interest rates and bond
yields in financial markets over the last 30 years. We have seen over the last two years,
many bond yields up to 10 years in the Eurozone turn negative on expectations that the
EU would struggle to get growth rates and inflation up from low levels. In addition, there
has, at times, been an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 10 year yields have
fallen below shorter term yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a recession.
Gilt yields fell sharply from the start of 2020 and then spiked up during a financial markets
melt down in March caused by the pandemic hitting western countries; this was rapidly
countered by central banks flooding the markets with liquidity. While US treasury yields

Page 67

do exert influence on UK gilt yields so that the two often move in tandem, they have
diverged during the first three quarters of 2020/21 but then converged in the final quarter.
Expectations of economic recovery started earlier in the US than the UK but once the UK
vaccination programme started making rapid progress in the new year of 2021, gilt yields
and gilt yields and PWLB rates started rising sharply as confidence in economic recovery
rebounded. Financial markets also expected Bank Rate to rise quicker than in the
forecast tables in this report.
At the close of the day on 31 March 2021, all gilt yields from 1 to 5 years were between
0.19% – 0.58% while the 10-year and 25-year yields were at 1.11% and 1.59%.
HM Treasury imposed two changes of margins over gilt yields for PWLB rates in 2019/20
without any prior warning. The first took place on 9th October 2019, adding an additional
1% margin over gilts to all PWLB period rates. That increase was then, at least partially,
reversed for some forms of borrowing on 11th March 2020, but not for mainstream nonHRA capital schemes. A consultation was then held with local authorities and on 25th
November 2020, the Chancellor announced the conclusion to the review of margins over
gilt yields for PWLB rates; the standard and certainty margins were reduced by 1% but a
prohibition was introduced to deny access to borrowing from the PWLB for any local
authority which had purchase of assets for yield in its three year capital programme. The
new margins over gilt yields are as follows: •
•
•
•
•

PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)
PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)
Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

There is likely to be only a gentle rise in gilt yields and PWLB rates over the next three
years as Bank Rate is not forecast to rise from 0.10% by March 2024 as the Bank of
England has clearly stated that it will not raise rates until inflation is sustainably above its
target of 2%; this sets a high bar for Bank Rate to start rising.
7.0

BORROWING OUTTURN FOR 2020/21

7.1

Due to investment concerns with both counterparty risk and low investment returns, no
new borrowing was undertaken during the year.

7.2

No rescheduling was done during the year as the average 1% differential between PWLB
new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates made rescheduling unviable.

7.3

The Council’s external borrowing from the PWLB at 31 March 2021 remained at
£67.456m at a fixed rate of 3.48% and matures on 28 March 2062.

8.0

INVESTMENT OUTTURN FOR 2020/21

8.1

Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by MHCLG guidance,
which has been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the Council
on 26 February 2020. This policy sets out the approach for choosing investment
counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by the three main credit rating
agencies, supplemented by additional market data (such as rating outlooks, credit default
swaps, bank share prices etc).

8.2

The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the
Council had no liquidity difficulties.

Page 68

8.3

Resources – the Council’s cash balances comprise revenue and capital resources and
cash flow monies. The Council’s core cash resources comprised as follows:
Balance Sheet Resources (£’000)
Balances
Earmarked Reserves
Major Repairs Reserve
Capital Grants and Contributions
Usable capital receipts
Total

8.4

31 March 2020 31 March 2021
22,252
25,323
8,213
11,085
3,586
4,356
2,991
5,279
3,061
3,220
40,103
49,263

The Council held average treasury investment balances of £50.7m which were mainly
internally managed and achieved an average rate of return of 0.418% compared with the
average 3 Month London Interbank Bid (LIBID) rate of 0.015%.
The Council also held average non-treasury investment balances (excluding equity) of
£3.854m. The Council has issued five loans totalling £3.71m to Welland Homes Limited,
which is the Council’s wholly owned Housing Development Company. These are service
loans (classified as long term debtors) and the Council receives interest of 3.5% on these
loans which is payable on a quarterly basis. Total interest earned during the year was
£113,134.
The combined rate of return on all investments averaged 0.603%.

8.5

Actual investment interest earned during 2020/21 was £325k which was £219k below the
original budget of £544k. This can be attributed to the very low level of interest rates in
the market during the financial year resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

9.0

THE ECONOMY AND INTEREST RATES DURING 2020-21 (commentary provided by
Link Group - external treasury advisors)

9.1

UK. Coronavirus. The financial year 2020/21 will go down in history as being the year of
the pandemic. The first national lockdown in late March 2020 did huge damage to an
economy that was unprepared for such an eventuality. This caused an economic
downturn that exceeded the one caused by the financial crisis of 2008/09. A short second
lockdown in November did relatively little damage but by the time of the third lockdown in
January 2021, businesses and individuals had become more resilient in adapting to
working in new ways during a three month lockdown so much less damage than was
caused than in the first one. The advent of vaccines starting in November 2020, were a
game changer. The way in which the UK and US have led the world in implementing a
fast programme of vaccination which promises to lead to a return to something
approaching normal life during the second half of 2021, has been instrumental in speeding
economic recovery and the reopening of the economy. In addition, the household saving
rate has been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March 2020 and so there is
plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up for services in the stilldepressed sectors like restaurants, travel and hotels as soon as they reopen. It is
therefore expected that the UK economy could recover its pre-pandemic level of economic
activity during quarter 1 of 2022.

Page 69

Both the Government and the Bank of England took rapid action in March 2020 at the
height of the crisis to provide support to financial markets to ensure their proper
functioning, and to support the economy and to protect jobs.
The Monetary Policy Committee cut Bank Rate from 0.75% to 0.25% and then to 0.10%
in March 2020 and embarked on a £200bn programme of quantitative easing (QE)
(purchase of gilts so as to reduce borrowing costs throughout the economy by lowering
gilt yields). The MPC increased then QE by £100bn in June and by £150bn in November
to a total of £895bn. While Bank Rate remained unchanged for the rest of the year,
financial markets were concerned that the MPC could cut Bank Rate to a negative rate;
this was firmly discounted at the February 2021 MPC meeting when it was established
that commercial banks would be unable to implement negative rates for at least six
months – by which time the economy was expected to be making a strong recovery and
negative rates would no longer be needed.
Average inflation targeting. This was the major change adopted by the Bank of England
in terms of implementing its inflation target of 2%. The key addition to the Bank’s forward
guidance in August was a new phrase in the policy statement, namely that “it does not
intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear evidence that significant progress is
being made in eliminating spare capacity and achieving the 2% target sustainably”. That
seems designed to say, in effect, that even if inflation rises to 2% in a couple of years’
time, do not expect any action from the MPC to raise Bank Rate – until they can clearly
see that level of inflation is going to be persistently above target if it takes no action to
raise Bank Rate. This sets a high bar for raising Bank Rate and no increase is expected
by March 2024, and possibly for as long as five years. Inflation has been well under 2%
during 2020/21; it is expected to briefly peak at just over 2% towards the end of 2021, but
this is a temporary short lived factor and so not a concern to the MPC.
Government support. The Chancellor has implemented repeated rounds of support to
businesses by way of cheap loans and other measures, and has protected jobs by paying
for workers to be placed on furlough. This support has come at a huge cost in terms of the
Government’s budget deficit ballooning in 20/21 and 21/22 so that the Debt to Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) ratio reaches around 100%. The Budget on 3 March 2021
increased fiscal support to the economy and employment during 2021 and 2022 followed
by substantial tax rises in the following three years to help to pay the cost for the
pandemic. This will help further to strengthen the economic recovery from the pandemic

Page 70

and to return the government’s finances to a balanced budget on a current expenditure
and income basis in 2025/26. This will stop the Debt to GDP ratio rising further from
100%. An area of concern, though, is that the government’s debt is now twice as sensitive
to interest rate rises as before the pandemic due to QE operations substituting fixed longterm debt for floating rate debt; there is, therefore, much incentive for the Government to
promote Bank Rate staying low e.g. by using fiscal policy in conjunction with the monetary
policy action by the Bank of England to keep inflation from rising too high, and/or by
amending the Bank’s policy mandate to allow for a higher target for inflation.
BREXIT. The final agreement on 24 December 2020 eliminated a significant downside
risk for the UK economy. The initial agreement only covered trade so there is further work
to be done on the services sector where temporary equivalence has been granted in both
directions between the UK and EU; that now needs to be formalised on a permanent
basis. There was much disruption to trade in January as form filling has proved to be a
formidable barrier to trade. This appears to have eased somewhat since then but is an
area that needs further work to ease difficulties, which are still acute in some areas.
9.2

USA. The US economy did not suffer as much damage as the UK economy due to the
pandemic. The Democrats won the presidential election in November 2020 and have
control of both Congress and the Senate, although power is more limited in the latter. This
enabled the Democrats to pass a $1.9trn (8.8% of GDP) stimulus package in March on
top of the $900bn fiscal stimulus deal passed by Congress in late December. These,
together with the vaccine rollout proceeding swiftly to hit the target of giving a first jab to
over half of the population within the President’s first 100 days, will promote a rapid easing
of restrictions and strong economic recovery during 2021. The Democrats are also
planning to pass a $2trn fiscal stimulus package aimed at renewing infrastructure over the
next decade. Although this package is longer-term, if passed, it would also help economic
recovery in the near-term.
After Chair Jerome Powell spoke on the Fed's adoption of a flexible average inflation
target in his Jackson Hole speech in late August 2020, the mid-September meeting of the
Fed agreed a new inflation target - that "it would likely be appropriate to maintain the
current target range until labour market conditions were judged to be consistent with the
Committee's assessments of maximum employment and inflation had risen to 2% and
was on track to moderately exceed 2% for some time." This change was aimed to provide
more stimulus for economic growth and higher levels of employment and to avoid the
danger of getting caught in a deflationary “trap” like Japan. It is to be noted that inflation
has actually been under-shooting the 2% target significantly for most of the last decade,
(and this year), so financial markets took note that higher levels of inflation are likely to be
in the pipeline; long-term bond yields duly rose after the meeting. There is now some
expectation that where the Fed has led in changing its policy towards implementing its
inflation and full employment mandate, other major central banks will follow, as indeed the
Bank of England has done so already. The Fed expects strong economic growth during
2021 to have only a transitory impact on inflation, which explains why the majority of Fed
officials project US interest rates to remain near-zero through to the end of 2023. The key
message is still that policy will remain unusually accommodative – with near-zero rates
and asset purchases – continuing for several more years. This is likely to result in keeping
treasury yields at historically low levels. However, financial markets in 2021 have been
concerned that the sheer amount of fiscal stimulus, on top of highly accommodative
monetary policy, could be over-kill leading to a rapid elimination of spare capacity in the
economy and generating higher inflation much quicker than the Fed expects. They have
also been concerned as to how and when the Fed will eventually wind down its
programme of monthly QE purchases of treasuries. These concerns have pushed
treasury yields sharply up in the US in 2021 and is likely to have also exerted some
upward pressure on gilt yields in the UK.

Page 71

9.3

EUROZONE. Both the roll out and take up of vaccines has been disappointingly slow in
the EU in 2021, at a time when many countries are experiencing a sharp rise in cases
which are threatening to overwhelm hospitals in some major countries; this has led to
renewed severe restrictions or lockdowns during March. This will inevitably put back
economic recovery after the economy had staged a rapid rebound from the first
lockdowns in Q3 of 2020 but contracted slightly in Q4 to end 2020 only 4.9% below its
pre-pandemic level. Recovery will now be delayed until Q3 of 2021 and a return to prepandemic levels is expected in the second half of 2022.
Inflation was well under 2% during 2020/21. The European Central Bank (ECB) did not cut
its main rate of -0.5% further into negative territory during 2020/21. It embarked on a
major expansion of its QE operations (PEPP) in March 2020 and added further to that in
its December 2020 meeting when it also greatly expanded its programme of providing
cheap loans to banks. The total Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP)
scheme of €1,850bn is providing protection to the sovereign bond yields of weaker
countries like Italy. There is, therefore, unlikely to be a euro crisis while the ECB is able to
maintain this level of support.

9.4

CHINA. After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1 of 2020,
economic recovery was strong in the rest of the year; this has enabled China to recover all
of the contraction in Q1. Policy makers have both quashed the virus and implemented a
programme of monetary and fiscal support that has been particularly effective at
stimulating short-term growth.

9.5

JAPAN - Three rounds of government fiscal support in 2020 together with Japan’s relative
success in containing the virus without draconian measures so far, and the roll out of
vaccines gathering momentum in 2021, should help to ensure a strong recovery in 2021
and to get back to pre-virus levels by Q3.

9.6

WORLD GROWTH. World growth was in recession in 2020. Inflation is unlikely to be a
problem in most countries for some years due to the creation of excess production
capacity and depressed demand caused by the coronavirus crisis.

9.7

DEGLOBALISATION. Until recent years, world growth has been boosted by increasing
globalisation i.e. countries specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they
have an economic advantage and which they then trade with the rest of the world. This
has boosted worldwide productivity and growth, and, by lowering costs, has also
depressed inflation. However, the rise of China as an economic superpower over the last
30 years, which now accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, has unbalanced the
world economy. In March 2021, western democracies implemented limited sanctions
against a few officials in charge of government policy on the Uighurs in Xinjiang; this led to
a much bigger retaliation by China and is likely to mean that the China / EU investment
deal then being negotiated, will be torn up. After the pandemic exposed how frail extended
supply lines were around the world, both factors are now likely to lead to a sharp
retrenchment of economies into two blocs of western democracies v. autocracies. It is,
therefore, likely that we are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world
globalisation and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China to supply
products and vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates.

9.8

CENTRAL BANKS’ MONETARY POLICY. During the pandemic, the governments of
western countries have provided massive fiscal support to their economies which has
resulted in a big increase in total government debt in each country. It is therefore very
important that bond yields stay low while debt to GDP ratios slowly subside under the
impact of economic growth. This provides governments with a good reason to amend the

Page 72

mandates given to central banks to allow higher average levels of inflation than we have
generally seen over the last couple of decades. Both the Fed and Bank of England have
already changed their policy towards implementing their existing mandates on inflation,
(and full employment), to hitting an average level of inflation. Greater emphasis could also
be placed on hitting subsidiary targets e.g. full employment before raising rates. Higher
average rates of inflation would also help to erode the real value of government debt more
quickly.
10.0

OPTIONS

10.1

There are no alternative options presented.

11.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

11.1

To comply with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of
Practice on Treasury Management 2017.

12.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

12.1

The report provides Members with a summary of the economy, the effect it has had on
financial markets and the treasury activity during 2020/21. The report requires scrutiny
prior to submitting to Council for approval.

13.0

IMPLICATIONS

13.1

Constitution & Legal

13.1.1

This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to
produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the actual prudential and
treasury indicators for 2020/21. This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA
Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital
Finance in Local Authorities.

13.1.2

The Council’s financial strategy, capital financing and borrowing all form part of the Policy
Framework and are therefore non-executive matters that fall within the remit of the full
Council.

13.2

Financial

13.2.1

The report provides details of the treasury activity for the 2020/21 financial year to inform
members on performance and to highlight any changes in the year.

13.2.2

Total interest received was £325k with £246k to the General Fund and £79k to the
Housing Revenue Account. This was considerably below the original budget due to the
exceptionally low interest rate environment throughout the financial year.

13.3

Risk Management

13.3.1

The Council’s investment policy has regard to the MHCLG Guidance on Local
Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury Management
in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM
Code”). The Council’s investment priorities are security first, liquidity second, then return.

Page 73

14.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

14.1

Due to budgetary considerations all wards are affected.

15.0

ACRONYMS

15.1
15.2
15.3
15.4
15.5
15.6
15.7
15.8
15.9
15.10
15.11
15.12
15.13
15.14
15.15

PSPS – Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd
CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
HRA – Housing Revenue Account
CFR – Capital Financing Requirement
PWLB – Public Works Loan Board
MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision
VRP – Voluntary Revenue Provision
MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
EU – European Union
GDP – Gross Domestic Product
MPC – Monetary Policy Committee
LIBID – London Interbank Bid Rate
QE - Quantitative Easing
ECB – European Central Bank
PEPP – Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme

Background papers: - SHDC Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2020/21
Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Sean Howsam – Treasury and Investment Manager (PSPS)
01507 613248
Sean.Howsam@pspsl.co.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report: None

Page 74

Agenda Item 12.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Mark Stinson - Assistant Director – Governance and Monitoring Officer

To:

Full Council – 22 September 2021

Author:

Jacqui Berridge - Lawyer

Subject:

Shared Officers – Section 113 Agreement

Purpose:

To consider entering into an Agreement with Breckland District Council
under Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 to share Legal
Services Officers, Procurement and Contracts Officers, and the
Environmental Protection Business Support Officer

Recommendations:
(a)

That the Council agrees to enter into a Section 113 Agreement with Breckland District
Council in relation to the sharing of the Legal Services Team Officers, the Procurement
and Contracts Team Officers and the Environmental Protection Business Support Officer;
and

(b)

That delegated authority be given to the Monitoring Officer to approve the final terms of
the Agreement.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 allows a local authority to enter into an
Agreement with another local authority for the placing at the disposal of the latter authority
the services of officers employed by the former authority. The shared management
Memorandum of Agreement was made under this provision (amongst others).

1.2

Authorities entering into such an Agreement may agree the terms of the arrangements, but
under the provisions of Section 113 any officer who is the subject of an Agreement must be
consulted; and for the purposes of pension payments the services rendered by the officers
are deemed to be services rendered to the authority providing the officers (though this does
not prevent such costs from being shared).

1.3

Whilst the existing shared management Memorandum of Agreement is now largely
obsolete that Agreement, as amended, allowed each Council to continue to place any of the
officers affected by that Agreement at the disposal of the non-employing Council on terms
to be agreed, subject to a fresh Section 113 Agreement being entered into.

1.4

Pending decisions on future shared arrangements, both Councils signed side letters to the
Memorandum of Agreement allowing the following Breckland Council (BDC) officers to
continue providing support to South Holland District Council (SHDC) until such time as a
new Section 113 Agreement was entered into:
•
•
•
•

Legal Services Manager
Information Governance Officer
Lawyer
Lawyer

Page 75

•
•
•
•
•

Procurement and Contracts Manager
Procurement Contracts Officer
Procurement Contracts Officer (currently vacant)
Contracts Support Officer
Environmental Protection Business Support Officer

1.5

This report now seeks formal approval for the required section 113 Agreement. Both
Councils must agree the arrangements and a similar report was submitted to the full
Council of Breckland District Council on 2 September.

2.0

TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT

2.1

It is proposed that the following basic principles will apply to the Agreement:
•

•
•
•

•
•

The officers will initially be shared on a 60/40 (BDC/SHDC) basis, except for the
Environmental Protection Business Support Officer, who will be engaged on SHDC
work for only a limited number of hours, where hourly charges will apply;
Both Councils will have the right to seek amendment of the percentage allocation;
BDC will remain fully responsible for the management and performance of shared
officers (including discipline, recruitment etc);
SHDC may remove an officer at short notice if it is not satisfied with any
management or performance issues, or with any proposed amended terms and
conditions of employment;
Either Council may remove one or more shared officers from the arrangement for
operational reasons;
Either side may terminate the entire Agreement upon 6 months’ notice or at shorter
notice if agreed by both sides.

2.2

It is recommended that authority be delegated to the Monitoring Officer to approve the final
terms of the Agreement.

3.0

OPTIONS

3.1

That the Council agrees to enter into a Section 113 Agreement in relation to the officers
detailed in this report, and that delegated authority be given to the Monitoring Officer to
approve the final terms of the Agreement. This is the preferred option.

3.2

Do nothing. This is not considered appropriate. The arrangements are currently acceptable
to both authorities pending clarification of the future direction of each authority.

4.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1

The Section 113 Agreement will allow some of the existing shared officer arrangements to
continue whilst both Councils consider their future options.

5.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1

The proposed Agreement will extend some on-going shared officer arrangements and
provide some certainty pending each authority finalising any future sharing arrangements.

Page 76

6.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional &
Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management;
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. Where the report
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these headings,
these are identified below.

6.1

Constitution & Legal

6.1.1

Section 113 Agreements relate to staffing which is a full Council function.

6.1.2 All other legal implications are set out in the body of the report.
6.2

Data Protection

6.2.1 The Agreement includes data protection clauses, and a data sharing Agreement will be in
place between the authorities.
6.3

Financial

6.3.1

Employment costs will continue to be billed and paid monthly, and ad hoc costs will be
billed quarterly or as they arise.

6.4

Risk Management

6.4.1 Each Council will be jointly and severally liable to any third parties in respect of any legal
proceedings arising directly from the Agreement, but each Council will indemnify the other
against their own liability.
6.5

Staffing

6.5.1

There are no staffing implications arising directly out of this report.

6.6

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

6.6.1 Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires all officers affected by proposed
Section 113 arrangements to be consulted. All officers have been consulted.
7.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

None.

8.0

ACRONYMS

8.1

BDC – Breckland District Council

8.2

SHDC – South Holland District Council

Background papers:-

None.

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:

Jacqui Berridge - Lawyer

Page 77

Telephone Number:
Email:

Jacqui.berridge@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report: None

Page 78

Agenda Item 13.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Mark Stinson – Assistant Director for Governance and Monitoring Officer

To:

South Holland District Council Wednesday, 22 September 2021

(Author:

Mark Stinson – Assistant Director for Governance and Monitoring Officer)

Subject

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership - Joint Committees and
other constitutional matters

Purpose:

To consider proposed amendments to the Constitution as a result of the
Council’s previous decision to form a Strategic Alliance with Boston Borough
Council and East Lindsey District Council.

Recommendation(s):

1) That the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee be renamed the Chief Officer
Employment Panel, the terms of reference be changed to those set out in section one of
Appendix A to this report, but the membership be unchanged;
2) That the Appointments and Disciplinary Appeals Committee be renamed the Chief Officer
Employment Appeals Panel, the terms of reference be changed to those set out in section
two of Appendix A to this report, and the size of the Panel be reduced from four to three
members;
3) That an Independent Panel be established as a standing committee of the Council, with the
terms of reference set out in section three of Appendix A, and its membership be the
Independent Person of this Council appointed under section 27 of the Localism Act 2011
together with the Independent Person appointed by Boston Borough Council and East
Lindsey District Council under the same statutory provision;
4) That, in respect of any complaint against a Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer which may
potentially lead to any action for misconduct, capability, or for some other substantial reason,
each statutory officer be authorised to act as an initial ‘filter’ to determine whether such
complaint should progress to the Chief Officer Employment Panel or instead be determined
through another process, except in any matter that relates to their own conduct;
5) That the Council’s Democratic Services Team, working with the Councillor Development
Working Group, ensure that members (and Independent Persons) serving on the Chief
Officer Employment Panel, Chief Officer Employment Appeals Panel and Independent Panel
receive suitable training;
6) That all Officers employed by South Holland District Council, East Lindsey District Council or
Boston Borough Council, who are shared pursuant to the s113 Agreement between those
Councils, be granted or re-granted delegated authority to act as officers of South Holland
District Council in accordance with the Constitution and the schedule of specific delegations
and the Monitoring Officer be authorised to make such amendments to post titles and areas
of responsibility set out in those documents as the Monitoring Officer considers appropriate;

Page 79

7) That the Head of the Paid Service be granted delegated authority to approve temporary
short-term arrangements, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to place staff of this
authority at the disposal Boston Borough Council and/or East Lindsey District or to agree the
placing of staff of those authorities at the disposal of this authority pending a Full Council
decision on permanent arrangements;
8) That, subject to consultation with the Council’s Insurers, an indemnity be provided to officers
and members in accordance with (or materially in accordance with) Appendix B to this
report; and
9) That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to amend the Constitution accordingly to reflect
any of the matters referred to in recommendations 1-8 above.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

At its meeting on 29 July 2021, Full Council approved the business case for and entry into
the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. This report sets out a number of
initial constitutional changes that are needed in order to implement that decision fully.

1.2

The constitutional changes proposed, together with the reasons for the proposed changes,
are as follow:

Chief Officer Employment Panel and associated procedures

1.2.1

Changes are needed to the committees/panels responsible for recruitment &
discipline and appeals. In addition, it is necessary to appoint a new
‘Independent Panel’. The changes are needed in order to reflect how
recruitment and discipline of shared Chief Officers and shared Deputy Chief
Officers will be managed between the three authorities. As part of the
process of negotiating the Memorandum of Agreement, external legal advice
was sought on various matters, including recruitment and discipline
procedures.

1.2.2

The advice identified the need for each Council’s Panel to be responsible
only for recruitment and discipline of those Chief and Deputy Chief Officers
employed by that individual Council. However, the advice recognised the
importance of consultation in respect of recruitment and discipline of shared
officers. Accordingly, we are advised that the three Panels should come
together informally ahead of such decisions for the non-employing councils
to provide feedback to the employing Council (or, in the case of action
against statutory officers, for any Independent Investigator to consult the
non-employing councils).

1.2.3

In preparing terms of reference for these bodies, consideration has been
given to the Joint Negotiating Committee (“JNC”) Conditions of Service
‘model procedure’, together with external legal advice and the Standing
Orders relating to Staff and the Local Authority (Standing Orders) (England)
Regulations 2001 (as amended) (“the 2001 Regulations”). Formal

Page 80

appointment of an Independent Panel is a key requirement of the JNC
Conditions of Employment model procedure for the Chief Executive/Head of
Paid Service. The model is also a suitable for any action against a
Monitoring Officer or Section 151 Officer and this is therefore recommended.
In accordance with the 2001 Regulations, it is proposed that the
Independent Panel comprises the Independent Person (appointed under the
Localism Act 2011 for standards matters) of each of the three Councils. All
three Independent Person have been consulted and are comfortable with the
proposal.
1.2.4

It is proposed that the membership of the renamed Chief Officer
Employment Panel remains unchanged. In the case of the renamed Chief
Officer Employment Appeals Panel, however, it is recommended that the
membership is reduced from four members to three (to reflect advice that
such Panels should comprise an odd number of either three or five
members). This will mean removing a Conservative Group seat from the
Panel (at present the Conservative Group has three seats but has not yet
nominated the members who are to occupy those seats).

1.2.5

Some potential complaints against a Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer
would not be appropriate for referral to the Chief Officer Employment Panel
(where, for example, they should be dealt with under grievance procedures
or as corporate complaints). It is therefore necessary to have a ‘filter’
mechanism in place and it is proposed that this be undertaken by any of the
three statutory officers – though clearly no statutory officer can act as a filter
in any complaint against himself/herself.

1.2.6

Should there ever be a need for the Chief Officer Employment Panel, Chief
Officer Employment Appeals Panel, or Independent Panel to consider the
conduct of a Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer, it will be necessary to
ensure that all involved have received up-to-date training in this area. It
would also be appropriate for those involved in recruitment to receive
suitable training.

Officer Delegations

1.2.7

Shared officers are, in law, employed by only one of the three councils, but
are designated as officers of all three councils. As such, existing delegations
will need to be amended to reflect changes in post titles, changes in areas of
responsibility and the fact that employees of one council will be carrying out
delegated functions under the constitutions of the other two councils. It is
therefore proposed that Council agrees to amend the delegations to reflect
the new management structure and authorises the Monitoring Officer to
amend the Constitution and the schedule of specific delegations accordingly
to reflect this and to reflect new post titles and areas of responsibility.

1.2.8

Further sharing of officers, as part of discrete service reviews, will require a
business case and subsequent Council decisions. It would, however, be
expedient for the Head of Paid Service to have the ability to make temporary

Page 81

short-term staffing/support arrangements across the three councils, in
consultation with the Leader of the Council. A specific delegation to the
Head of Paid Service is therefore proposed for this purpose.

Officer and Member Indemnities

1.2.9

The legal advice, commissioned as part of the work on the Memorandum of
Agreement, recommended that (subject to the agreement of the Council’s
insurers) each Council should provide an indemnity to its officers and
members against any costs, claims and expenses arising as a result of the
strategic partnership. The indemnity protects officers and members where
they have acted reasonably (so would not protect an officer or a member
who had acted fraudulently, recklessly or criminally). A form of indemnity, as
drafted by Eversheds, is enclosed at Appendix B to this report.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Do nothing – this is not recommended as a failure to adopt the necessary changes to the
constitution will seriously fetter the ability of the Senior Leadership Team and members to
make the Partnership a success. Failure to have suitable recruitment and disciplinary
procedures and suitable delegations in place with leave the Council at risk of legal
challenge.

2.2

Adopt the proposed amendments to the Constitution, but with changes.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To enable a swift and legally compliant implementation of the South and East Lincolnshire
Councils Partnership.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The proposed changes will enable a robust process for recruitment and discipline, will
ensure that appropriate delegations are in place to enable the Senior Leadership Team to
operate in accordance with the business plan approved by members, and an appropriate
indemnity will protect officers and members from personal liability (except in the limited
circumstances set out in paragraph 1.2.9 above and Appendix B attached).

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

Page 82

5.1

Constitutional & Legal

5.1.1

The proposals in respect of recruitment and discipline are compliant with the Standing
Orders relating to Staff and the Local Authority (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations
2001 (as amended) and are in accordance with external legal advice. Delegations to
officers are in accordance with s101(1)(a) Local Government Act 1972. The provision of
indemnities to officers and members are in accordance with the Local Authorities
(Indemnities for Members and Officers) Order 2004.

5.2

Contracts

5.2.1

Robust recruitment and disciplinary procedures are an important part of the employment
contract between the Council and its officers.

5.3

Corporate Priorities

5.3.1

The changes proposed in this report are designed to enable successful delivery of the
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership.

5.4

Equality and Diversity/Human Rights

5.4.1

Having a fair, robust and consistent recruitment and disciplinary process is an important
tool to assist the Council in meeting its employment obligations to all staff who are subject
to that process. Adoption of these changes will help to mitigate the risk of breach of the
Council’s equality duty to its officers.

5.5

Financial

5.5.1

There are no significant anticipated financial implications arising from this report. There
may be some additional insurance costs as a result of the proposed indemnity, and should
the Independent Panel be required to meet, there will be some additional cost in terms of
payment to the Independent Persons. There will also be some training costs in respect of
the training referred to at paragraph 1.2.6 above.

5.6

Risk Management

5.6.1

All of the proposals in respect of recruitment and discipline, and amendment to delegations,
help to mitigate the risk of subsequent legal challenge. The use of an indemnity will mitigate
the risks to officers and members personally.

5.7

Staffing

5.7.1

Implications for staff are set out in the body of the report.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

The South and East Lincolnshire Strategic Partnership will deliver services across all wards
and communities in the Council’s area, and across the areas of the other two councils.

Page 83

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

JNC – Joint Negotiating Committee

Background papers:- None (but see previous Council reports)
Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Mark Stinson Assistant Director Governance and Monitoring Officer
07899 061277
Mark.Stinson@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Mandatory and Discretionary Services
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Proposed Terms of Reference for the Chief Officer Employment
Panel, Chief Officer Employment Appeals Panel, and the
Independent Panel

Appendix B

Proposed officer/member indemnity

Page 84

APPENDIX A

Section 1
Chief Officer Employment Panel
The Panel shall comprise three members, be politically balanced and shall include at least one
member of the Executive.
The Quorum of the Panel is 3 and named substitutes are permitted.
The Panel has the following terms of reference:
1. The making of recommendations to the Full Council on (i) the appointment of the Head of
the Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer; and (ii) proposed
dismissal of any of those officers in respect of misconduct, capability or for some other
substantial reason. When dealing with potential dismissal of a statutory officer the Panel
will carry out the necessary hearing in accordance with the model disciplinary procedure for
the time being approved as part of the Joint Negotiating Committee (“JNC”) Conditions of
Service and prepare a report to the Full Council which report will be accompanied by the
findings of the Independent Panel.
2. The taking of disciplinary or capability action, short of dismissal, against the Head of the
Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer, in accordance with the
JNC model disciplinary procedure.
3. Where required or recommended by the JNC model disciplinary procedure, the
commissioning of an investigation by an Independent Investigator appointed in accordance
with that procedure, including the setting of terms of reference for the investigation.
4. The consideration of any independent investigation in respect of a statutory Chief Officer.
5. Consideration of any submissions made by executive members following the ‘Executive
Objections Procedure’ (under which the Proper Officer must notify all members of the
Executive of any proposed dismissal and allow an opportunity for objections to be
submitted) and the consideration of any reasonable representations submitted to the Panel
by the Chief Officer Employment Panels of Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey
District Council.
6. The appointment of any other Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer (this includes the Chief
Executive where the post of Chief Executive is separate from the Head of Paid Service).
7. The dismissal of, or the taking of any action against any non-statutory Chief Officer or
Deputy Chief Officer (this includes the Chief Executive where the post of Chief Executive is
separate from the Post of Head of Paid Service) on the grounds of misconduct, capability
or for some other substantial reason.
8. The suspension of any statutory Chief Officer, non-statutory Chief Officer or Deputy Chief
Officer and the keeping under review of any such suspension. In exceptional
circumstances, the Chairman of the Panel may authorise suspension where s/he considers
such action necessary and urgent.

Page 85

9. Approving staffing policies in respect of redundancy, early retirement and discretionary
compensation.

NOTE:
a) Subject to (b) below, where any current or prospective (as the case may be) Chief Officer,
or Deputy Chief Officer is shared with East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough
Council, by way of an agreement under s113 of the Local Government Act 1972, but is
employed or to be employed by this Council, the members of this Panel shall meet
informally with members of the Chief Officer Employment Panels of those two councils prior
to any decision being made by this Panel on the appointment, disciplining or dismissal of
such officer. Whilst the final decision on any such appointment, disciplining or dismissal of
any such officer shall be the sole decision of this Panel, it shall have regard to any
reasonable representations made by the members of the other two Panels.
b) Where any decision (or recommendation to Full Council) to be made by this Panel relates
to the disciplining or dismissal of a statutory Chief Officer, there shall be no consultation
directly with the other Panels but any Independent Investigator shall be advised of the
shared management arrangements and shall have the opportunity to seek feedback from
either of the other councils as s/he sees fit.
c) Subject to (d) below, where any current or prospective (as the case may be) Chief Officer
or Deputy Chief Officer is shared or to be shared with East Lindsey District Council and
Boston Borough Council, by way of an agreement under s113 of the Local Government Act
1972, but is employed or to be employed by one of the other Councils, the members of this
Panel shall meet informally with members of the Chief Officer Employment Panels of those
two councils prior to any decision being made by the Panel in question on the appointment,
disciplining or dismissal of such officer. Whilst the final decision on any such appointment,
disciplining or dismissal of any such officer shall be the sole decision of that other Panel,
the members of this Panel shall provide such representations to the other Panel as this
Panel considers reasonable.
d) Where any decision (or recommendation to Full Council) to be made by the other Panel
relates to the disciplining or dismissal of a statutory Chief Officer, there shall be no
consultation directly with this Panel but any Independent Investigator shall be advised of
the shared management arrangements and shall have the opportunity to seek feedback
from this Council as s/he sees fit
In the exercise of these functions the Panel must act in accordance with Standing Orders relating
to Staff and the Local Authority (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as amended)
including;
(a) Head of the Paid Service - No offer of appointment may be made until the proposed
appointment has been approved by the Full Council and until notice of the proposed
appointment has been given by the Proper Officer to the Cabinet Members and the Leader has
not reported any material and well-founded objections within the time given for response. No
notice of dismissal may be issued until the proposed dismissal has been approved by the Full
Council, taking into account the recommendation of the Independent Panel, and until notice of
the proposed dismissal has been given by the Proper Officer to the Cabinet Members and the
Leader has not reported any material and well-founded objections within the time given for
response.

Page 86

(b) Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer - No offer of appointment may be made until
notice of the proposed appointment has been given by the Proper Officer to the Cabinet
Members and the Leader has not reported any material and well-founded objections within the
time given for response. No notice of dismissal may be issued until the proposed dismissal
has been approved by the Full Council, taking into account the recommendation of the
Independent Panel, and until notice of the proposed dismissal has been given by the Proper
Officer to the Cabinet Members and the Leader has not reported any material and wellfounded objections within the time given for response.
(c) Other Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers (this includes the Chief Executive where
the post of Chief Executive is separate from the Post of Head of Paid Service) – no offer
of appointment may be made nor notice of dismissal issued until notice of the proposed
appointment or dismissal has been given by the Proper Officer to the Cabinet Members and
the Leader has not reported any material and well-founded objections within the time given for
response.
(Pursuant to decisions of Breckland District Council at its meeting on 8.4.21 and SHDC at its
meeting on 28.4.21 this Council’s Independent Person will be Breckland District Council’s second
Independent Person for the purposes of that Council’s disciplinary procedures against statutory
Chief Officers until such time as Breckland District Council may make alternative arrangements)
(Any remuneration, allowances or fees paid to an independent person appointed to the
Independent Panel must comply with Standing Order no. 60A.)
Section 2

Chief Officer Employment Appeals Panel
The Panel shall comprise three members, be politically balanced and shall include at least one
member of the Executive.
No member of the Chief Officer Employment Panel shall be appointed to this Panel.
1. Determining appeals in respect of decisions of the Chief Officer Employment Panel relating
to the dismissal of any Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer (other than the Head of the
Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or Section 151 Officer).
2. Determining appeals in respect of decisions of the Chief Officer Employment Panel relating
to action short of dismissal in respect of any Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer including
the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or Section 151 Officer.
Note: In the exercise of these functions the Committee must act in accordance with Standing
Orders relating to Staff and the Local Authority (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as
amended)

Page 87

Section 3
Independent Panel
The membership of the Independent Panel shall comprise the Independent Person appointed by
this Council pursuant to s28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 together with the Independent Persons of
East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council.
The Independent Panel shall consider any proposal to dismiss a statutory Chief Officer, including
the Independent Investigator’s report, in accordance with the model disciplinary procedure and at
least twenty days prior to any decision of the Full Council relating to dismissal of the Statutory
Chief Officer.
The Panel shall prepare its own report to Full Council setting out its findings.

Page 88

APPENDIX B
1. In accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities (Indemnities for Members and
Officers ) Order 2004, the Council indemnifies its employees and Members against the costs
claims and expenses arising as a result of the strategic alliance between Boston Borough
Council, East Lindsey Borough Council and South Holland District Council (“ the three
Councils”) .

2. The Council will not itself make any claim against its employees or Members in relation to any
costs or expenses for which they are indemnified.

3. The indemnity is effective to the extent that the employee or Member in question:a) believed that the action, or failure to act, in question was within the powers or duties of one
of the three Councils, or
b) where that officer or Member the action or failure to act forms part of or arises from powers
or duties placed upon the officer or Member as a consequence of any function being
exercised by that officer or Member at the request of or with the approval of one of the
three Councils or for the purposes of one of the three Councils and
c) in each case, provided that the officer or Member is exercising delegated authority to act in
accordance with the arrangements for the strategic alliance in accordance with Sections
101 and/or 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 or Section 9E of the Local Government
Act 2000.

4. The indemnity shall not apply in relation to any action by or failure to act by the Member or
officer which:(i) constitutes a criminal offence or
(ii) is the result of fraud or other deliberate wrongdoing or recklessness on the part of the
Member or employee.

5. The indemnity may be available for the purposes of the defence of any criminal proceedings
brought against the Member or employee and any civil liability arising as a consequence of any
action or failure to act which also constitutes a criminal offence. An indemnity in these
circumstances may only be given with the approval of the Council’s Monitoring Officer and in
accordance with an appropriate agreement about the terms and duration of the indemnity,
requirement for its recovery and subject to the terms about reimbursement where there is a
finding that the Member or officer is convicted of a criminal offence or there is a failure by the
Member to comply with the Code of Conduct, in accordance with Article 8 of the 2004 Order.

6. No indemnity shall be provided in relation to criminal acts, intentional wrongdoing, fraud,
recklessness or in relation to bringing (but not the defence) of defamation proceedings.

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 17.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 109

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 113

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

